
 
  

 
 
  

PORT SHELDON TOWNSHIP 
16201 Port Sheldon Street, West Olive, MI 49460 
Telephone 616-399-6121   Fax 616-399-7173 
www.portsheldontwp.org  |  info@portsheldontwp.org 

 
 BOARD MEETING 

 

AGENDA 
Wednesday – October 9, 2025 

5:30 P.M. 
             
1. Call to order 
2. Roll Call     
3. Pledge of allegiance 
4. Invocation 
5. Additions to Agenda 
6. Approval of Agenda 
7. Public Comment 
8. Consent Agenda Approval 

a. Approve Minutes – Regular mtg. – September 10, 2025* 
b. Approve Financial Report       

  c.   Approve Correspondence 
d.   Approve Committee Reports* 
e.   Approve payment of Bills 

9. Lakeshore Advantage Presentation* 
10. Consider – Planning Commission recommendation to approve Master Plan* 
11. Discuss – Scheduling Sheldon Dunes Water System informational meeting 
12. Additions to Agenda      
13. Public Comment 
14. Adjourn  
  
 
* Information included in packet       
     

Next Meeting – November 12th, 2025 
 

http://www.portsheldontwp.org/
mailto:info@portsheldontwp.org


Minutes of a Regular Meeting of the 
Port Sheldon Township Board 

September 10, 2025 – 5:30 P.M. 

1. Call to order
2. Roll Call

Present: Michael Sabatino, Meredith Hemmeke, Rachel Frantom, Luke DeVries and Bill Monhollon.
Absent: None
Also present: Attorney Ron Bultje, Fire Chief Brad Dirkse, Sheriff Eric DeBoer and 3
residents/guests.

3. Pledge of allegiance.
4. Invocation

Luke DeVries offered the invocation.
5. Additions to Agenda:

a. Discuss Fire Chief Dirkse’s recommendation to sponsor 3 cadets for the Fire Cadet
Program at Port Sheldon Fire Department.

b. Discuss Mutual Aid Agreement for building department/inspection coverage.
c. Discuss Township Hall Ceiling Painting Quote.

6. Approval of Agenda with additions.
Motion by DeVries to approve the agenda with additions. Supported by Monhollon and carried.

7. Public Comment: None
8. Consent Agenda Approval

a. Approve Minutes with correction.
1. August 13, 2025, Regular Meeting with a corrected spelling from Chris Korey

to Chris Khorey.
2. August 18, 2025, Special Meeting/Workshop

b. Approve Financial Report
c. Approve Correspondence:

• Correspondence received about JH Campbell.
• Correspondence sharing a brief update on the state of farmland

preservation in Ottawa County.
d. Approve Committee Reports

i. Building – Fourteen permits issued with one new home start.
ii. Fire Department – Twenty-six calls, plus two meetings.

iii. Clerk Update
1. Discussion -Early Voting Plan Agreement as a single jurisdiction was

presented.
iv. Supervisor Update

1. The Supervisor updated the board regarding the progress of the Wyoming Third
Transmission main project being installed along VanBuren St and 164th Ave.
He also highlighted the online information portal set up for residents to track
ongoing progress.

e. Approve payment of Bills
Motion by Hemmeke to approve the consent agenda. Supported by Frantom and carried. 

9. Presentation- Sheriff’s Department Annual Enforcement Report

DRAFT



 

Sheriff DeBoer presented his annual report.   
10. Consider- Clerk Purchase Request- Fireproof File Cabinet.  

Motion by Frantom to approve the clerk’s purchase of a Fireproof File Cabinet from FireKing2go.com 
for a 4-drawer fireproof lateral. Supported by DeVries and carried with five yes roll call votes.  Ayes:   
Frantom, Hemmeke, Sabatino, DeVries and Monhollon. Nays: None. 

11. Consider- Building Department Request- Fee Schedule Amendment/Demolition Permits. 
Motion by Sabatino to approve the Building Department Demolition Fee Schedule with edits and 
explanations Effective September 10, 2025.  Supported by Monhollon and carried with five yes roll 
call votes. Ayes; Monhollon, DeVries, Sabatino, Hemmeke, and Frantom. Nays: None.  

12. Consider- Budget Amendment 
Clerk included a letter for consideration of the budget amendment.  
Motion by Frantom to amend the Library budget transferring $8400 from General to the Library Fund. 
Supported by Hemmeke and carried with five yes roll call votes. Ayes; Monhollon, DeVries, Sabatino, 
Hemmeke, and Frantom. Nays: None.  

13. Consider- Township Hall Existing Tile Abatement contractor. 
Reviewed and discussed bids that were received.  
Motion by Frantom to accept the low bid dated September 2, 2025 for the abatement of the township 
hall flooring. Supported by Hemmeke and carried with five yes roll call votes. Ayes; Frantom, 
Hemmeke, Sabatino, DeVries and Monhollon. Nays: None. 

14. Discussion- Windsnest Parking/Speed Limit discussion. 
Discussed Windsnest parking options at length.  The board discussed the challenges with parking and 
reviewed several potential solutions. The Supervisor is scheduling meetings with Consumers Energy, 
and key stakeholders later this month. The board believes that parking should be a priority in 
discussions with Consumers Energy.  

15. Discussion- Posting for replacing electrical inspector. 
Motion by Frantom to post for the contracted electrical inspector position.  Supported by DeVries and 
carried.   

16. Discussion- Updating Trash and Bike Path Ordinances. 
Both regulatory ordinances were discussed. The Board requested that the attorney provide sample 
ordinances for further review and consideration. 

17. Discussion- Open Space Lands policy. 
The Board discussed current ordinances and policies, discussing the possibility of establishing an 
Open Space Land policy to address recent issues. No action was taken at this time, as the Board would 
like additional time to consider the matter. 

18. Additions to Agenda: 
a. Discuss Fire Chief Dirkse’s recommendation to sponsor 3 cadets for the Fire Cadet Program 

at Port Sheldon Fire Department.  
Motion by Frantom to accept the Fire Chief’s recommendation to sponsor Carter Lawrence, 
Melvin Thomas, and Madalynn Reitzel as cadets at Port Sheldon Township Fire.   Supported 
by Hemmeke and carried.  

b. Discuss Mutual Aid Agreement for building department/inspection coverage. 
Motion by Sabatino to direct that the township attorney to draft a mutual aid agreement to 
address how the township handles the absence of the building inspector. Supported by 
DeVries and carried. 
Motion by Monhollon to direct that the township attorney to draft a policy to address how 

DRAFT



 

the township handles the absence of the building inspector. Supported by DeVries and 
carried. 

c. Discuss Township Hall Ceiling Painting Quote. 
Motion by Hemmeke to approve Quote #230 from Dimension 4 Painting for painting the 
Township Hall Ceiling. Supported by DeVries and carried with five yes roll call votes. Ayes; 
Frantom, Hemmeke, Sabatino, DeVries and Monhollon. Nays: None. 

19. Public Comment: 
Public Comment was received from one resident.  

20. Adjourn 
Motion by Monhollon to adjourn. Supported by DeVries and carried. 
The meeting adjourned at 6:36 pm.                                           

Meredith Hemmeke, Clerk 

DRAFT



Building Dept. Totals 2025

Month Total Pemits Total Value Total Fees New Homes New Mobile Homes Multi-Family Units

JAN 7 537,901.00$                2,867.50$           0 0 0

FEB 5 2,471,940.00$             8,989.50$           3 0 0

MAR 11 2,043,804.00$             9,227.75$           2 0 0

APR 14 3,571,661.00$             13,325.50$         3 0 0

MAY 34 7,171,813.00$             30,417.80$         4 0 10

JUN 29 13,132,762.00$          11,673.00$         1 0 0

JUL 37 3,266,174.00$             13,781.70$         1 0 8

AUG 14 1,388,323.00$             5,593.00$           1 0 0

SEP 38 6,837,298.00$             26,874.20$         7 0 14

OCT

NOV

DEC

YTD Total Permits 189

YTD Total Value 40,421,676.00$      

YTD Total Fees 122,749.95$            

YTD New Homes 22

YTD New Mobile Homes 0
YTD New Multi-Family Units 32



Monthly Permit List 10/01/2025

Building

Permit # Contractor Job Address Fee Total Const. Value

PB25-165 RAAK DAN 5540 TIMBERSTONE LANE (PVT) $1,677.50 $400,000

Work Description: SINGLE FAMILY HOME
ATTACHED GARAGE & DECK
FINISHED LOWER

PB25-166 JELSMA DANIEL R-RENEE J TRUST9320 PIER PL $85.00 $5,506

Work Description: SOLAR ARRAY
ROOF MOUNTED
13 PANEL

PB25-167 NIEMANN CRAIG M-JENNIFER C5431 LAKESHORE DR $599.50 $156,902

Work Description:
IN-GROUND POOL
35X16 FIBERGLASS

PB25-169 POEL BRIAN-JULIE 15091 BALDWIN ST $180.00 $14,000

Work Description: 16X32 PRE-BUILT ACCESSORY BUILDING
ENGINEERED DESIGN

PB25-170 DAVIS EDWARD-KATHLEEN 14492 GARDNER ST $1,730.00 $480,000

Work Description: SINGLE FAMILY HOME
ATTACHED GARAGE
COVERED PORCHES

PB25-171 WARNES LINDSAY 16490 EVERGREEN HILLS DR $274.00 $30,000

Work Description: POST BUILT ACC. BUILDING
40X40 COLD STORAGE

PB25-172 VENTURA TOWNHOUSES LLC 9077 CAMINO DR (PVT) $627.50 $164,047

Work Description: 4 UNIT APT. TOWNHOMES
ATTACHED GARAGE

PB25-173 VENTURA TOWNHOUSES LLC 9079 CAMINO DR (PVT) $627.50 $164,047

Work Description: 4 UNIT APT. TOWNHOMES
ATTACHED GARAGE

PB25-174 VENTURA TOWNHOUSES LLC 9081 CAMINO DR (PVT) $627.50 $164,047

Work Description: 4 UNIT APT. TOWNHOMES
ATTACHED GARAGE

PB25-175 VENTURA TOWNHOUSES LLC 9083 CAMINO DR (PVT) $627.50 $164,047

Work Description: 4 UNIT APT. TOWNHOMES
ATTACHED GARAGE

PB25-176 DC LAND LLC 9585 SHOREWAY DR $1,212.00 $331,142

Work Description: SINGLE FAMILY HOME
ATTACHED GARAGE
UNFINISHED LOWER



PB25-177 WOOD RONALD C-DEBORAH L 6996 HILLSIDE AVE $2,937.50 $825,000

Work Description: NEW SINGLE FAMILY HOME
LOWER GARAGE

PB25-178 DC LAND LLC 9530 SHOREWAY DR $85.00 $2,000

Work Description: DECK STAIRS

PB25-179 MILANOWSKI FAMILY TRUST 7539 MARGARET AVE $74.50 $7,000

Work Description: TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF

PB25-180 WAINER JACK N TRUST 15352 CROSWELL ST $155.00 $29,578

Work Description: TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF

PB25-181 GERMERAAD RANDALL S TRUST6059 LAKESHORE DR $337.00 $82,000

Work Description: TEAR OFF AND REROOF

PB25-182 WOODS ALAN W-JILL R 7535 152ND AVE $148.00 $27,980

Work Description: TEAR OFF AND REROOF

PB25-183 VANDENBRAND DAVID 16163 BLAIR ST $211.00 $45,240

Work Description: ADDITION TO EXISTING ACCESSORY
39 X 29

PB25-184 BORNSTEIN MARC-SHIRLEY 17226 STANTON ST $85.00 $1,000

Work Description: EMERGENCY REPAIR
DISCOVERED FAILING STRUCTURE DURING REMODEL

PB25-185 VENTURA TOWNHOUSES LLC 9084 CAMINO DR (PVT) $627.50 $164,047

Work Description: 4 UNIT APT. TOWNHOMES
ATTACHED GARAGE

PB25-186 VENTURA TOWNHOUSES LLC 9086 CAMINO DR (PVT) $627.50 $164,047

Work Description: 4 UNIT APT. TOWNHOMES
ATTACHED GARAGE

PB25-187 VENTURA TOWNHOUSES LLC 9088 CAMINO DR (PVT) $627.50 $164,047

Work Description: 4 UNIT APT. TOWNHOMES
ATTACHED GARAGE

PB25-188 VENTURA TOWNHOUSES LLC 9090 CAMINO DR (PVT) $627.50 $164,047

Work Description: 4 UNIT APT. TOWNHOMES
ATTACHED GARAGE

PB25-189 VANDERBIE BRUCE A-STACEY J 5525 164TH AVE $116.50 $117

Work Description:
TEAR OFF AND REROOF

PB25-191 MILLER JACK A-KELLI L 6423 BROOKLYN DR $3,025.00 $850,000

Work Description:
NSFD W/ ATTACHED 3 STALL GARAGE
LOWER FAMILY AND BATH

PB25-192 DABANDONS CHIEMCHAY 14656 VAN BUREN ST $1,919.00 $480,000



Work Description: SINGLE FAMILY HOME
LOWER 2 BED 1 BATH
COVERED DECK

PB25-193 VENTURA TOWNHOUSES LLC 9068 CAMINO DR (PVT) $627.50 $164,047

Work Description: Six unit townhomes
Attached garage

PB25-194 VENTURA TOWNHOUSES LLC 9070 CAMINO DR (PVT) $627.50 $164,047

Work Description: Six unit townhomes
Attached garage

PB25-195 VENTURA TOWNHOUSES LLC 9072 CAMINO DR (PVT) $627.50 $164,047

Work Description: Six unit townhomes
Attached garage

PB25-196 VENTURA TOWNHOUSES LLC 9074 CAMINO DR (PVT) $627.50 $164,047

Work Description: Six unit townhomes
Attached garage

PB25-197 VENTURA TOWNHOUSES LLC 9076 CAMINO DR (PVT) $627.50 $164,047

Work Description: Six unit townhomes
Attached garage

PB25-198 VENTURA TOWNHOUSES LLC 9078 CAMINO DR (PVT) $627.50 $164,047

Work Description: Six unit townhomes
Attached garage

PB25-199 BORNSTEIN MARC-SHIRLEY 17226 STANTON ST $260.00 $60,000

Work Description: NEW DECK. FIX ROT IN KITCHEN AND MASTER BEDROOM.

PB25-200 EBELS TIMOTHY J 15840 CROSWELL ST $430.40 $65,000

Work Description: ATTACHED GARAGE REMODEL/ ADDITION

PB25-201 RAAK DAN 5508 TIMBERSTONE LANE (PVT) $179.50 $36,500

Work Description: RES. ACCESSORY BUILDING
POST BUILT 40X16

PB25-202 HARBERTS JOHN D-MARY C 9441 WHISPERING SANDS DR $258.80 $70,000

Work Description: KITCHEN REMODEL

PB25-203 JONES SCOTT-KRISTI 5569 BUTTERNUT DR $197.00 $41,675

Work Description: TEAR OFF AND RE-ROOF

PB25-205 BLACK TRENTON 15841 PORT SHELDON ST $1,912.00 $500,000

Work Description: SINGLE FAMILY HOME
NO BASEMENT
ATTACHED GARAGE

Total Permits For Type: 38

Total Fees For Type: $26,874.20

Total Const. Value For Type: $6,837,298



$6,837,298

Population: All Records

Report Summary

Grand Total Fees: $26,874.20

Grand Total Permits: 38

Grand Total Const. Value: $6,837,298

Permit.DateIssued  Between
9/1/2025 12:00:00 AM AND
9/30/2025 11:59:59 PM AND
Permit.PermitType  =  Building



AGREEMENT FOR ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 
 

LAKESHORE ADVANTAGE CORPORATION 
 

This Agreement is entered into on September 1, 2025, by and between Port Sheldon 
Township, located at 16201 Port Sheldon Road, West Olive, Michigan 49460, (“Community 
Partner”) and Lakeshore Advantage Corporation located at 65 E. 7th Street, Holland, Michigan 
49423, (“Lakeshore Advantage”). 
 
 The Community Partner requests certain economic development services, and Lakeshore 
Advantage desires to provide such services and is qualified to perform such services.   
 

For and in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter contained, the Community 
Partner and Lakeshore Advantage agree as follows: 
 
1. Services.  Lakeshore Advantage and its employees will perform certain economic 

development services for the Community Partner, as designated in the Statement of Work, 
which is attached hereto and incorporated herein as “Exhibit A” (“Services”).  Lakeshore 
Advantage agrees to consider and discuss the Services that may be needed by the 
community; provided, however, that the terms and conditions under which any such 
Services are provided by Lakeshore Advantage will remain at the exclusive discretion and 
control of Lakeshore Advantage. 
 

2. Payment.  The Community Partner will pay Lakeshore Advantage for its Services on an 
annual basis in a single payment, at the rate identified in the schedule that is attached hereto 
and incorporated herein as “Exhibit B”.  The Community Partner will make payments 
timely after the execution of this Agreement and receipt of an invoice.  
 

3. Term.  The term of this Agreement will be for a period of one (1) year, commencing 
September 1, 2025, and continuing until August 31, 2026, unless otherwise terminated as 
provided for in this Agreement. 
 

4. Termination.  Either party may terminate this Agreement, or any of the Services 
performed hereunder, with or without cause, at any time, upon providing the other party 
with thirty (30) days prior written notice.  Any notice will be deemed given when personally 
delivered or by mailing such notice, postage prepaid, to the other party at the address set forth 
above.  In the event of an early termination of this Agreement, Lakeshore Advantage will 
be paid the annual fee referenced in Exhibit B hereto on a pro-rated basis to the effective 
date of the termination.  If such termination occurs after the Community Partner has paid 
Lakeshore Advantage, Lakeshore Advantage will reimburse the Community Partner the 
pro-rated amount within sixty (60) days of termination. 
 

5. Independent Contractor.  It is expressly understood and agreed that Lakeshore 
Advantage is an independent contractor.  The employees, servants and agents of Lakeshore 
Advantage will in no way be deemed to be and will not hold themselves out as the 
employees, servants or agents of the Community Partner.  Lakeshore Advantage’s 



employees, servants and agents will not be entitled to any fringe benefits of the Community 
Partner such as, but limited to, health and accident insurance, life insurance, paid vacation 
leave, paid sick leave or longevity.  Lakeshore Advantage will be responsible for 
withholding and payment of all applicable taxes, including, but not limited to, income and 
Social Security taxes to the proper Federal, State and local governments.  Lakeshore 
Advantage will carry workers’ compensation and unemployment compensation coverage 
for its employees, as required by law.  It is also expressly agreed that Lakeshore Advantage 
will not be covered by or participate in any benefits extended to Community Partner’s 
employees through the Community Partner’s pension plans, deferred compensation plans 
or personnel policies and procedures. 
 

6. Report of Services.  Lakeshore Advantage will report to the Board of Trustees or Directors 
of the Community Partner and will otherwise be available to meet with and provide 
reasonable information relating to the Services to the Community Partner.  At a minimum, 
Lakeshore Advantage will prepare and provide Community Partner with an annual report 
outlining activities and results relating to the Services.  

 
7. Compliance with Law.  Lakeshore Advantage will render the Services in complete 

compliance with all applicable Federal, State and local laws, ordinances, rules and 
regulations.  Lakeshore Advantage will adhere to all Federal, State and local laws, 
ordinances and regulations prohibiting discrimination with regard to persons seeking 
and/or receiving Services.  Lakeshore Advantage will not discriminate against a person to 
be served or an employee or an employee or applicant for employment, because of race, 
color, religion, national origin, age, sex, handicap, health, weight, marital status, political 
affiliation or beliefs, or citizenship as required by law.  Lakeshore Advantage’s breach of 
the covenant will be regarded as a material breach of this Agreement. 

 
8. Modification and Execution.  This Agreement may only be modified by a written 

agreement signed by the authorized representatives of the Community Partner and 
Lakeshore Advantage. This Agreement may be executed by the Community Partner and 
Lakeshore Advantage in separate counterparts, each of which when so executed and 
delivered will be an original, but all of which together will constitute one and the same 
Agreement.  Electronic signatures will be considered genuine and enforceable.  The 
persons signing this Agreement on behalf of the parties hereto certify that they are duly 
authorized to sign on behalf of the parties and that this Agreement has been authorized by 
the appropriate parties. 
 

9. Assignment.  Lakeshore Advantage may not subcontract or otherwise assign its duties and 
obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Community 
Partner, which consent may not be unreasonably withheld.  
 

10. Complete Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the complete agreement concerning 
the Services and, as of the effective date hereof, supersedes any and all prior agreements 
between the parties, if any.  Community Partner and Lakeshore Advantage acknowledge 
that they have read this agreement and had an opportunity to consult with legal counsel and 
are freely entering into this Agreement.  If any provision of the Agreement is held to be 



invalid, the remainder of the Agreement will not be affected thereby except where the 
invalidity of the provision will result in the illegality and/or unenforceability of this 
Agreement. 
 

11. Michigan Law.  This Agreement is governed by and will be interpreted and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Michigan, without regard to conflict of law 
principles.   

 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the date 
and year first above written. 
 
 
LAKESHORE ADVANTAGE CORPORATION  
 
BY:      ___________________________________  DATE:  ______________________ 
            

Jennifer Owens 
ITS:     President 
 
 
PORT SHELDON TOWNSHIP 
 
BY:      ___________________________________  DATE:  ______________________ 
           

Michael Sabatino 
ITS:   Port Sheldon Supervisor 
  
 
 
 
 
 
  



EXHIBIT A 
STATEMENT OF WORK 

 
1. RETENTION & EXPANSION ACTIVITIES: 
 

Conduct primary business retention visits to existing primary employers in Ottawa and 
Allegan County. A primary employer exports goods and/or services outside of our region.   
 
Provide manufacturers with information on Federal, State and local business 
assistance/incentive programs (including financing, tax abatements, worker training and 
technical assistance); assist companies with groundbreakings and open houses. 
 
Assist local units of government in obtaining Federal and State grants & loans to help 
finance public infrastructure improvements required for major private sector investments. 

 
Provide information on available industrial sites, land & buildings to leads and prospects. 

 
2. SMALL BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES: 
 

Provide information on other resources for primary small business start-ups (including 
preparing a business plan, requesting a bank loan, obtaining licenses and permits and 
conducting market research). 
 
Provide referrals to small business support and training sessions held by the MI-SBDC 
Network. 
 

3. BUSINESS ATTRACTION ACTIVITIES: 
 
Offer prospective sites in Ottawa and Allegan Counties in response to applicable MEDC 
Site Searches. 
 
Promote Ottawa and Allegan Counties to industrial leads and prospects that are compatible 
with the existing industrial base, contribute to the diversification of the economy and/or 
are engaged in high-tech activities.  
 
Host prospect visits. 

 
4.  OTHER ACTIVITIES: 
 

Provide other economic development services that correspond with Lakeshore 
Advantage’s three core service areas. 
 

• Grow our primary business base 
• Plan to ensure long-term economic health 
• Solve economic challenges and identify opportunities 

 



 
EXHIBIT B 

SCHEDULE OF ANNUAL COMPENSATION 
 
 
 

Year Amount 
2026 $     2,500.00 

 
 
 
 



Page 1 of 1

Lakeshore Advantage
65 E 7th St

Holland, MI  49423-2913

angela.huesman@lakeshoreadvantage.com

 

INVOICE
BILL TO
Michael Sabatino
Port Sheldon Township

INVOICE 50481
DATE 09/04/2025
TERMS Net 30
DUE DATE 10/04/2025

ACTIVITY DESCRIPTION AMOUNT

Annual Investment - Public 
Sector

Financial Contribution from Public Sector 2,500.00

Please note our new address for your records: 
65 E. 7th St
Holland, MI 49423

SUBTOTAL 2,500.00

TAX 0.00

TOTAL 2,500.00

BALANCE DUE $2,500.00



Summary of changes to the 2025 Master Plan 

1. The Planning Commission held a public hearing and approved the proposed Master Plan on 
July 23, 2025 with the following edits: 

a. The Commission discussed the proposed changes to the text of the Master Plan, as 
presented in the packet. The Commissioners all agreed on the proposed changes, so two 
votes were taken as follows: 

i. To recommend the changes, consisting of four edits, to the Master Plan, 
as listed in the packet. 

1. Revise the Transportation objectives to state that implementation of the 
Non-Motorized Plan is a high priority. 

2. Add some language to the Neighborhood Residential FLU category 
saying that the vision is single family west of US-31, but other housing 
types may be appropriate east of US-31. 

3. Revise the Sub-Area Plan and Future Land Use map to show the south 
side of Croswell from Hiawatha to 160thas a Priority Preserve Zone. 

4. Revise the Zoning Plan to clarify that R-1 Zoning is not appropriate in the 
Rural Residential FLU category. 

ii. Motion carried 7-0 via voice vote 
iii. The Master Plan was forwarded to the Board of Trustees via resolution. 

2. The Board of Trustees reviewed the proposed Master Plan at the August 13, 2025 meeting and 
issued a statement of objections as follows: 

a. The board discussed at length concerns about the Master Plan and the Future Land Use 
Map. 

b. Motion to adopt resolution 2025-18 adopting and approving the Port Sheldon Township 
Proposed Master Plan as recommended by the planning commission. Motion failed with 2 
votes in favor and 3 votes against.  

c. Motion to recommend the Planning Commission consider revising the Master Plan 
2025 future land use map in the following areas: 

i. River Trace from Neighborhood Residential to Rural Residential. 
ii. Blair/Holly to Port Sheldon corridor from Neighborhood Residential to Rural 

Residential. 
iii. The north side of Blair revert from Rural Residential to Neighborhood 

Residential to match current zoning. 
d. Motion carried with 4 votes in favor and 1 vote against.  

3. The Planning Commission scheduled a second public hearing at their August meeting for the 
September 24, 2025 meeting. 

4. The Planning Commission held a second public hearing on September 24, 2025, and adjusted 
the plans per the Board of Trustees’ recommendations, with the following motions.  

a. Motion 1: Motion to accept the Master plan with the extension of the neighborhood 
mixed use designation to match the existing zoning for commercial along the west side 
of Butternut. 

b. Motion 2: Motion to approve the resolution recommending approval of the updated 
portion of the Township Master Plan for the township board constituting Planning 
Commission approval of such Master Plan. 



 
  

 
 
  

PORT SHELDON TOWNSHIP 
16201 Port Sheldon Street, West Olive, MI 49460 
Telephone 616-399-6121   Fax 616-399-7173 
www.portsheldontwp.org  |  info@portsheldontwp.org 

 
 To: Planning Commission Members, 

 
In the August 13th Board of Trustees Meeting, Chris Khorey from Mckenna presented the Final version 
of the Master Plan, Sub-Area plan, and Future Land Use map for the board’s consideration.    
 
Firstly, Thank you for your hard work over this last year and a half, we realize this is no small 
undertaking.  
 
Secondly, during the presentation the township attorney clarified that the board could effect minor 
changes, (spelling, grammar, phrasing) but if any major or substantive changes were desired, such as 
any changes to the Future Land Use Map (FLU), the Master Plan would need to be sent back to the 
Planning commission for consideration of the boards requests for review.  
 
With this understanding, the board discussed at length several areas of concern with the FLU map. 
There were concerns raised with some of these areas not being consistent with current zoning (1) and 
growth, as well as not being reflective of a community development model (2) current lot size/road 
frontage, and public input/feedback (3).   
Considering this, the following areas were noted, and a request is submitted to the planning commission 
to review these areas to consider making the following changes to the future land use map. 
 
1. It was noted that the area of the 1957 Cheleans Subdivision on the FLU map (north of Blair St), which 
is already Residential (R-1) zoned was shown on the FLU map to be Rural Residential, which carries 
larger lot size requirements for lots that are already established as R-1 via the platting process.  
 
 2025 FLU  Map                                                         CURRENT ZONING MAP (R-1) 

             
 
The board is requesting that this area be corrected to Neighborhood Residential in the 2025 FLU 
*Chris Khorey noted that this area was likely an oversight but nonetheless would require going back to 
the planning commission, as it is a change to the final draft of the Future land use map. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.portsheldontwp.org/
mailto:info@portsheldontwp.org


 
  

 
 
  

PORT SHELDON TOWNSHIP 
16201 Port Sheldon Street, West Olive, MI 49460 
Telephone 616-399-6121   Fax 616-399-7173 
www.portsheldontwp.org  |  info@portsheldontwp.org 

 
 2. The area of River Trace development is shown in the FLU map to be Neighborhood Residential 

(equivalent to our current R-1/.46 acre lot.)  This area was developed with the large lot model and 
overall is not likely to be developed into smaller lots, with more restrictive accessory building 
regulation, due to the intended character of the original development.  
 
2025 FLU Map                                                           Current Zoning Map 

       
 
The board is requesting that it be considered for Rural Residential in the 2025 FLU 
 
 
3. The Area bounded by Blair, Holly, and Port Sheldon, not including the current south east corner 
which is already platted as R-1, shown to be Neighborhood Residential (R-1 equivalency) 
The lot sizes are already smaller and have homes centrally located, which further complicate 
accommodating splits, as well as limiting the larger lots from having accessory buildings appropriately 
sized with the larger acreage lots.  
 
2025 FLU Map                                                Current Zoning Map 

        
 
The board is requesting that it be considered for Rural Residential in the 2025 FLU Map   
Thank you for your consideration, 
Port Sheldon Township Board of Trustees 

http://www.portsheldontwp.org/
mailto:info@portsheldontwp.org




PORT SHELDON TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION
OTTAWA COUNTY, MICIIIGAN

Resolution No.2025-19

At a regular meeting of the Port Sheldon Township Planning Commission held on

September 24,2025, at the Port Sheldon Township Hall, the following Resolution was offered for

adoption by Planning Commission Member David Deleeuw and was seconded by Planning

Commission Member Patrick Kelderhouse:

A RESOLUTION RECOMMENDING APPROVAL OF THE UPDATED
PORT SHELDON TOWNSHIP MASTER PLAN TO THE TOWIISHIP
BOARD AND CONSTITUTING PLANNING COMMISSION APPROVAL
OF SUCH MASTER PLAN

WHEREAS, the Michigan Planning Enabling Act, MCL 125.3801 et seq. ("MPEA")

authorizes the Planning Commission to prepare a Master Plan for the use, development and

preservation of all lands in the Township; and

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission prepared an updated Master Plan and submitted

such plan to the Township Board for review and comment; and

WHEREAS, on May 14,2025, the Port Sheldon Township Board received and reviewed

the proposed Master Plan prepared by the Planning Commission and authorized distribution of the

Master Plan to the Notice Group entities identified in the MPEA; and

WHEREAS, notice was provided to the Notice Group entities as provided in the MPEA;

and

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a public hearing on July 24,2025 to consider

public comment on the proposed Master Plan, and to further review and comment on the proposed

Master Plan; and



WHEREAS, following the public hearing, the Planning Commission recommended

adoption of the proposed Master Plan to the Township Board; and

WHEREAS, the Township Board received the proposed Master Plan, rejected it, and

submitted to the Planning Commission a statement of its objections to the proposed Master Plan;

and

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission considered the Township Board's objections, hold

a second hearing on today's date, and revised the proposed Master Plan so as to address those

objections; and

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission finds that the proposed Master Plan is desirable,

proper, and reasonable and furthers the use, preservation, and development goals and strategies of

the Township;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED AS FOLLOWS:

I . Approval of 2025 Master Plan. The Planning Commission approves the proposed

Master Plan, including all of the chapters, figures, descriptive matters, maps and tables contained

therein.

2. Distribution to Township Board Pursuant to MCL 125.3843, the Township Board

has asserted by resolution its right to approve or reject the proposed Master Plan and therefore, the

approval granted herein is not the final step for adoption ofthe plan as provided in MCL 125.3843.

In addition, the Planning Commission hereby approves distribution of the proposed Master Plan

to the Township Board. The Planning Commission respectfully recommends to the Township

Board that the Township Board give final approval and adoption of the proposed Master Plan.

3. Findings of Fact. The Planning Commission has made the foregoing

determination based on a review of existing land uses in the Township, a review of the existing

.\
-L-



Master Plan provisions and maps, and input received from the Township Board and at the public

hearing, as well as the assistance of a professional planning group. The Planning Commission also

finds that the proposed Master Plan will accurately reflect and implement the Township's goals

and strategies for the use, preservation, and development of lands within Port Sheldon Township.

4. Effective Date, The Master Plan will be effective upon the date that it is approved

by the Port Sheldon Township Board.

YEAS: Lori Stump, Del Petroelje, David Deleeuw, Steve Grilley, Patrick Kelderhouse, Bill
Monhollon

NAYS: None

ABSENT: Nicole Timmer

RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED

Respectfu lly submitted,

Dated: September 24,2025 By D+
Lori Stump
Planning Commission Secretary

J



PORT SHELDON TOWNSHIP 
OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN 

Resolution No. 2025-20 

At a regular meeting of the Port Sheldon Township Board held on October 8, 2025 at the 

Port Sheldon Township Hall, the following Resolution was offered for adoption by Board Member 

_______________ and was seconded by Board Member _______________: 

 
A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE PROPOSED 
PORT SHELDON TOWNSHIP MASTER PLAN  

 
 

WHEREAS, the Michigan Planning Enabling Act, MCL 125.3801 et seq. (“MPEA”) 

authorizes the Planning Commission to prepare a Master Plan for the use, development and 

preservation of all lands in the Township; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission prepared an updated Master Plan and submitted 

such plan to the Township Board for review and comment; and 

WHEREAS, on May 14, 2025, the Port Sheldon Township Board received and reviewed 

the proposed Master Plan prepared by the Planning Commission and authorized distribution of the 

Master Plan to the Notice Group entities identified in the MPEA; and 

WHEREAS, notice was provided to the Notice Group entities as provided in the MPEA; 

and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a public hearing on July 23, 2025 to consider 

public comment on the proposed Master Plan, and to further review and comment on the proposed 

Plan; and 



WHEREAS, after the public hearing was held, the Planning Commission voted to approve 

the updated Master Plan on July 23, 2025, and recommended adoption of the proposed Master 

Plan to the Township Board; and 

WHEREAS, the Township Board received the proposed Master Plan, rejected it, and 

submitted to the Planning Commission a statement of its objections to the proposed Master Plan; 

and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission considered the Township Board's objections, held 

a second public hearing on September 24, 2025, and revised the proposed Master Plan so as to 

address those objections; and 

WHEREAS, following the public hearing, voted to approve the updated Master Plan on 

September 24, 2025, and recommended adoption of the proposed Master Plan to the Township 

Board; and 

WHEREAS, the Township Board finds that the proposed Master Plan is desirable, proper, 

reasonable, and furthers the use, preservation, and development goals and strategies of the 

Township; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED AS FOLLOWS: 

1. Adoption of 2025 Master Plan.  The Port Sheldon Township Board hereby 

approves and adopts the proposed updated Master Plan, including all of the chapters, figures, 

descriptive matters, maps and tables contained therein.  

2. Distribution to Notice Group. Pursuant to MCL 125.3843, the Township Board 

approves distribution of the updated Master Plan to the Notice Group. 

3. Findings of Fact.  The Township Board has made the foregoing determination 

based on a review of existing land uses in the Township, a review of the existing Master Plan 

provisions and maps, and input received from the Planning Commission and the public, as well as 



the assistance of a professional planning group.  The Township Board also finds that the updated 

Master Plan will accurately reflect and implement the Township’s goals and strategies for the use, 

preservation, and development of lands within Port Sheldon Township. 

4. Effective Date.  The amended Master Plan shall become effective on the adoption 

date of this resolution.   

 

YEAS:            

            

NAYS:             

ABSENT/ABSTAIN:            

 
 
RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED. 
 
 
 

CERTIFICATION 

I hereby certify that the above is a true copy of a resolution adopted by the Township of 
Port Sheldon Township Board of Trustees at the time, date, and place specified above pursuant to 
the required statutory procedures. 

Dated:   October 8,  2025 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

By 

  

  Meredith Hemmeke 
Port Sheldon Township Clerk 

 
 



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

PORT SHELDON TOWNSHIP, MICHIGAN

Port Sheldon 
Township 2025 
Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

Acknowledgments
We extend our deepest gratitude to everyone who contributed 
their time, expertise, and insights into the development of this plan. 
Special thanks go to our dedicated team members, visionary leaders, 
supportive stakeholders, and the vibrant community whose invaluable 
input has shaped Port Sheldon Township’s vision. 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES
Mike Sabatino, Supervisor 

Meredith Hemmeke, Clerk 

Rachel Fantom, Treasurer 

Luke DeVries, Trustee

Bill Monhollon, Trustee

PLANNING COMMISSION
David Deleeuw

Steve Grilley, Chairperson

Patrick Kelderhouse, Vice-Chairperson 

Bill Monhollon, Trustee

Del Petroelje

Lori Stump, Secretary 

Nicole Timmer

Prepared by:

235 East Main Street, Suite 105

Northville, MI 48167 
mcka.com

2 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

Contents
INTRODUCTION.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .4
State Authorization for Planning...............................4

What is included in this Plan?......................................4

How is this Plan used by the Township? .............. 5

Regional Location ................................................................6

HISTORY .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .8

EXISTING CONDITIONS:  
POPULATION.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10
Demographic Profile ....................................................... 10

Housing Profile..................................................................... 14

Population Projection...................................................... 17

EXISTING CONDITIONS:  
ECONOMY.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18
Economic Profile................................................................. 18

Tapestry Segmentation Profile.................................22

NATURAL ENVIRONMENT.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24
Topography and Land Character............................ 24

Critical Dunes........................................................................25

Wetlands and Floodplains........................................... 26

Watersheds and Drainage........................................... 29

Groundwater and Surface Water............................ 29

Soils and Farmland .......................................................... 30

EXISTING LAND USE.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32
Overview ..................................................................................33

Agricultural ............................................................................33

Residential ..............................................................................33

Lakefront Residential ..................................................... 34

Commercial .......................................................................... 34

Industrial ..................................................................................35

Public/Semi-Public ...........................................................35

Vacant ....................................................................................... 36

TRANSPORTATION.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 38
Existing Transportation Analysis............................. 38

Functional Classification of Roadways .............. 38

FUTURE LAND USE PLAN.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .46
Overview .................................................................................46

FUTURE LAND USE CATEGORIES.. . . . . . . 52
Agricultural Preservation...............................................52

Rural-Residential................................................................ 54

Neighborhood Residential.......................................... 56

Lakefront Residential...................................................... 58

Neighborhood Mixed Use............................................60

Rural Enterprise.................................................................. 62

JH Campbell Plant Site Subarea ............................64

Public / Semi-Public......................................................... 65

OVERLAYS.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 66
Neighborhood Design Guidelines.......................... 67

ZONING PLAN.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 74
Relationship Between Future Land  
Use and Zoning Categories......................................... 74

General Zoning Recommendations .................... 74

Agricultural District Recommendations .......... 74

Residential District Recommendations .............75

Industrial District Recommendations .................75

Promoting Mixed Use......................................................75

Promoting Connectivity ................................................75

FUTURE TRANSPORTATION PLAN.. . . . . 76
Road Network ..................................................................... 76

Scenic Corridors.................................................................. 76 

Walking and Biking ......................................................... 77

Public Transit........................................................................ 77

IMPLEMENTATION PLAN.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 78
Transportation Action Plan......................................... 79

Nonmotorized Action Plan..........................................80

Placemaking Action Plan.............................................. 81

Agricultural / Natural Preservation  
Action Plan............................................................................. 82

Economic Development and  
Housing Action Plan........................................................ 83

3



RECOMMENDED FOR DISTRIBUTION
APRIL 23, 2025

Introduction
The purpose of the Port Sheldon Township Master Plan is as a 
policy and decision- making guide regarding future land use and 
infrastructure development within Port Sheldon Township. Not only 
does this Plan reflect a comprehensive vision for a community, but it 
also serves as the key building block to implement policies, programs, 
and procedures to achieve a long-term community vision.

STATE AUTHORIZATION  
FOR PLANNING
In the State of Michigan, Master Plans are authorized 
by the Michigan Planning Enabling Act (Act 33 of 
2008), also known as the MPEA. According to the 
MPEA, a Master Plan should: 

•	 Promote and protect the public health, safety, and 
general welfare;

•	 Encourage the use of resources in accordance with 
their character and adaptability;

•	 Facilitates the efficient use of land while preventing 
overcrowding of land by buildings or people; 

•	 Lessen congestion on public roads and streets; 

•	 Facilitate provisions for a system of transportation, 
sewage disposal, safe and adequate water supply, 
recreation, and other public improvements.

•	 Consider the appropriate land uses for different 
areas of the Township;

•	 Identify and develop strategies for the protection 
of delicate and finite natural resources and 
ecosystems.

WHAT IS INCLUDED IN THIS PLAN?
This Master Plan includes the following elements:

Regional Context

Communities and markets don’t stop with municipal 
boundaries. This chapter provides information about 
Ottawa County and the broader area around Port 
Sheldon Township in order to understand the regional 
assets available to residents. 

Community Profile

The Community Profile provides data and information 
about existing conditions in Port Sheldon Township, 
including demographic, housing, and employment 
statistics; a summary of existing land uses; and a 
demonstration of the community’s physical and 
organizational infrastructure. This information 
identifies the Township’s strengths, as well as possible 
points of concern and opportunities to be addressed 
moving forward. It also can serve as a benchmark 
for the present day, showing how conditions in Port 
Sheldon Township have changed over the years – 
which are used to set realistic and achievable goals. 

4 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

Natural Resources 

It is important to understand the physical conditions 
of the land, particularly in a community with the 
diverse and sensitive natural resources present in Port 
Sheldon Township. This chapter provides information 
about the Township’s topography, water resources, 
unique ecosystems, wildlife, and more. 

Collective Vision

A key component to inform this project is community 
and stakeholder input and outreach. Port Sheldon 
Township has been intentional throughout this 
planning process to specifically engage community 
members on their thoughts, ideas, or concerns 
regarding the Master Plan and future policies for the 
Township. This Chapter demonstrates how outreach 
was conducted over the course of the planning 
process and summarizes the results of all the public 
engagement efforts.

The Plan for Port Sheldon Township

This Chapter, using the groundwork and foundation 
set out in the previous chapters, provides the most 
actionable pieces of this document. This includes a 
few elements: 

The Future Land Use Plan

This includes a list of the Future Land Use districts, 
the uses and standards that should be upheld in each 
district, and where they are located.

The Zoning Plan identifies the Zoning Districts that 
correspond to each Future Land Use district and 
proposes other changes to the zoning ordinance that 
could help to facilitate the Plan (it does not make 
official changes to the Zoning Ordinance). 

The Subarea Plan provides a significant amount of 
detail and context into the Consumers Energy site 
and adjacent properties. A portion of this Master 
Plan identifies strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, 
and threats relating to the remediation of the JH 
Campbell Plant site, and how the Township can utilize 
this closure of the Consumers Energy Plant as an 
opportunity to further goals in outdoor recreation, 
housing, commercial, industrial, and other elements.

The Action Plan identifies specific tasks that can 
be taken to achieve the goals of the Ordinance, 
identifying specific organizations or individuals who 
would be responsible for those tasks, and how each 
action should be prioritized.

HOW IS THIS PLAN USED BY THE 
TOWNSHIP? 
At its most fundamental level, a community master 
plan is a guiding policy document. Not only does 
a master plan reflect a comprehensive vision for a 
community, but it also serves as the key building block 
to implement policies, programs, and procedures to 
achieve a long-term community vision. Whether the 
vision is for agricultural preservation, conservation 
of rural character, and/or a guide to target growth 
and development areas, a community master plan 
influences the vision of a community and land use 
fabric for years to come.

It is the intent that the recommendations, programs, 
policies, and other aspects of this Plan will be initiated 
by the Port Sheldon Township Planning Commission 
and staff, with support and input from the Township 
Board and, most importantly, the Township residents 
and taxpayers. This Plan represents the overall vision, 
priorities, and direction for Port Sheldon Township 
over the next 10+ years. 

However, it should be acknowledged that master 
plans are best applied as a living document. As such, 
the Planning Commission intends to monitor this 
Plan to ensure that decisions being made at the local 
level accurately reflect the spirit of this document 
and changes will be made if deemed necessary. This 
document does not effectively rezone or acquire 
any property in Port Sheldon Township, but merely 
provides a vision for the future composition of land 
uses and built environment.

In general, this Master Plan will serve as a tool for 
the Planning Commission to reference when new 
development opportunities arise (in addition to 
other elements such as infrastructure goals and 
environmental sustainability). With each new 
development (or redevelopment) proposal, the 
Planning Commission utilizes Township requirements, 
such as the zoning ordinance, as well as this 
document to make an informed decision. 

The typical planning process is a multi-pronged 
approach involving the collaboration among various 
Township, County, and State entities, each with a 
defined role. The Port Sheldon Township Planning 
Commission is committed to ensuring that the 
spirit of this Master Plan is carried forward with each 
development review, ordinance amendment, and 
public discussion.

5



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

REGIONAL LOCATION 
Port Sheldon Township is located in Ottawa County, in Central West Michigan. Ottawa County is located 
along the shore of Lake Michigan, south of Muskegon, and directly west of Kent County and the Grand Rapids 
metropolitan region. Ottawa County has become an increasingly popular destination for residence in the State, 
given the availability of land, close proximity to employment centers, mild climate, good schools, and other 
reasons. Because of this, the general West Michigan region has experienced an uptick in residents over recent 
years – thus contributing to the importance of land use planning and smart growth strategies.

The Township is mostly known around the region as a coastal community filled with scenic views of Lake 
Michigan, access to plentiful outdoor recreation opportunities such as Pigeon Lake, Pigeon River, popular local 
and regional parks, and other assets. The Township also boasts exemplary natural beauty such as preserved 
open space, active farmland and blueberry fields, coastal dunes, mature growth trees, and hillside landscape. 

It should also be highlighted that the Township’s geographic location makes it a prime location for tourism, 
vacationers, seasonal residents, and year-round residents. The Township is located within a reasonable driving 
distance to Chicago (about 160 miles), City of South Bend, IN (about 100 miles), City of Holland (about 10 miles), 
City of Grand Haven (about 11 miles), and the City of Grand Rapids (about 30 miles). 

Grand Haven, MI

Grand Valley State University

Downtown Holland, MI

6 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



INSERT REGIONAL LOCATION MAP



RECOMMENDED FOR DISTRIBUTION
APRIL 23, 2025

History 
The history of Port Sheldon Township creates a foundation for the 
conditions that are seen even today. In addition to its rich agricultural 
history, the Township has emerged as a leader in the West Michigan 
region for popular outdoor recreation destinations, scenic views 
and natural beauty, a balance of rural and suburban amenities, all in 
conjunction with being a great place to live.

According to Port Sheldon Township, “…in 1835, a group 
of Eastern leaders formed the Port Sheldon Land 
Company. This company bought six hundred acres 
of land for $900 to build a city. They spent a fortune 
laying out and building a boom city near Pigeon 
Creek. The first post office opened in 1838, as did the 
Ottawa House, an elaborate hotel. 2 This settlement, 
however, eventually failed and collapsed.

By the 1930s, strawberry, raspberry and blueberry 
growers moved into the township. They found the 
land suitable for these crops, and today much of the 
Township remains in agricultural use for these fruits, 
along with other crops. 

Most of the social life in the township centered around 
the depot, post office, and general stores. Coal and 
gasoline were shipped in. Grain, pickles, bark, and logs 
were shipped out. Two trains a day carried passengers 
and mail.

Port Sheldon Township was officially organized April 
7, 1924, breaking away from Olive Township. The 
majority of residents felt they were not being properly 
represented, since Township officials were from the 
more heavily populated eastern farm area.

The Fire Department plans were started in the fall of 
1964 and the Township Board gave official approval 
the following years.  A used John Bean pumper was 
purchased as the first fire truck. The department took 
over complete protection of the Township until 1966 
and continues to serve the Township residents today.”

In 1836 the group began to layout the plans for the 
City. 142 city blocks were platted, each with 24 lots 
that were 62 feet by 128 feet. Nice gravel roads were 
constructed from the City to Grandville and to Grand 
Haven. These were the only roads north of Ohio and 
west of Detroit at the time. 

Next the Port Sheldon and Grand Rapids Railway 
Company was formed in 1838. This was unsuccessful 
as the only other rail line at the time was in Detroit. 

8 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

This hotel had its grand opening 
on December 1, 1838. It was the 
center of the City at the time 
hosting extravagant parties that 
brought in many visitors.…due to 
the Panic of 1837, hitting the City 
of mostly visitors hard. At that 
time, there were only a few citizens 
being the company employees, a 
few rich people, Native Americans, 
and lumberjacks. Much of the 
City was shipped out and sold to 
surrounding cities. Hotel furniture 
was sold to hotels in Chicago, store 
inventory was sold to stores in 
Detroit and some whole buildings 
were sold to Holland getting torn 
down, packed up, shipped, and 
rebuilt in their new locations. The 
Port Sheldon Company was forced 
to foreclose by the Philadelphia 
Bank. 

Port Sheldon then became a 
farming city. Abram Pike, a man 
who remained there and lived at 
the hotel, began growing wheat 
and buying furs, cranberries, and 
meat from the Native Americans. 
Being located on the coast of Lake 
Michigan, with blowing sand and 
shifting dunes, the town had to 
work on stabilizing these areas 
to be successful in their farming. 
Their first efforts began in the 
years between 1916 and 1919 but 
was unsuccessful until they began 
planting various Pine Trees and 
dune grasses in 1932. This allowed 
for Christmas Trees were also 
grown at this time.

Port Sheldon Township was 
officially adopted on April 7, 
1924, breaking away from Olive 
Township. The Community Hall and 
Fire Department were built in 1966.

Credit: Second Wave Media

Credit: Second Wave Media

Credit: Second Wave Media

9



RECOMMENDED FOR DISTRIBUTION
APRIL 23, 2025

Existing Conditions:  
Population
Trends of the past, current assessments, and future predictions are all 
aspects that will create a vision for the basis of the type and amount of 
development that will be associated with the population. This section 
of the Master Plan provides information regarding the population, 
housing, and economic characteristics of the Township.

DEMOGRAPHIC PROFILE 
Demographic analysis, or the study of the 
characteristics of the population, is a fundamental 
element of master planning. Future growth and 
development require consideration of how many 
people will need public services, how much housing 
is affordable, how many new houses will be built, and 
other vital signs. One must understand these existing 
conditions and past trends in order to appropriately 
anticipate and plan for the future needs of the 
community. 

The comprehensive data source for Port Sheldon 
Township is the U.S. Census in 2020 as well as the 
American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates. 
This analysis compares Port Sheldon Township to 
surrounding townships, Grand Haven Charter, Olive, 
and Park, as well as Ottawa County and the State 
of Michigan. By comparing data over time and in 
relation to surrounding communities, important 
trends as they relate to planning and zoning can 
be identified. Such analyses also provide valuable 
insight regarding potential future conditions and 

serve as a basis for projections of future population, 
housing, and economic conditions. Differences in 
demographics may indicate issues or areas in which 
land use planning and public policies are warranted; 
may identify strengths or assets that can be further 
developed; or may identify challenges and other issues 
that need to be addressed.

Population Trends 

Changes in the number of people in an area serves 
as an important indicator of community health; 
examining these trends is an integral tool in 
community planning.  The Table below shows the 
relative populations of Port Sheldon Township, as 
well as Ottawa County and the State of Michigan as a 
whole. 

Port Sheldon Township has experienced a gain in 
population over the last 10 years, with a yearly growth 
rate of about 2.6%.  As populations likely will continue 
to increase, Port Sheldon Township must plan to be 
a place that can preserve its rural character while 
supporting smart growth and improving the quality of 
life for existing residents. 

Table 1.	 Population Change, 2010-2030

2010 2020 2030  
(ESTIMATE)

% CHANGE  
2010-2030

AVERAGE % 
GROWTH/YEAR

Port Sheldon Township 4,240 5,206 6,712 22.8% 2.58%

Ottawa County 261,376 289,162 316,948 21.3% 1.1%

State of Michigan 9,952,687 9,973,907 9,995,127 0.43% 0.02%

Source: U.S. Census (2010 and 2020: ACS 5-Year Estimates) 

10 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

The population increase can likely be the result of Port 
Sheldon’s ideal location between two growing cities 
(Holland and Grand Haven) and its location along the 
shoreline of Lake Michigan. Port Sheldon has become 
an attractive rural area for Ottawa County residents 
to live in, and at the same time, have a reasonable 
commute to job markets outside of the Township 
including those in Muskegon and in Grand Rapids.

The Table below includes a population comparison 
between Port Sheldon Township and its neighboring 
Townships, Park Township (south), Olive Township 
(east), and Grand Haven Charter Township (north). 

Table 2.	 Population Change, 2010-2020,  
Comparison Communities 

TOWNSHIP 2010 2020 % INCREASE/
DECREASE

Port Sheldon 

Township
4,240 5,206 +22.8%

Park Township 17,915 18,824 +5.1%

Grand Haven Charter 

Town-ship
14,963 17,272 +15.4%

Olive Township 4,786 5,258 +9.9%

Source: U.S. Census (2010 and 2020: ACS 5-Year Estimates) 

While Port Sheldon Township has a lower population 
than both Park Township and Grand Haven Township, 
it should be noted that the population increase is 
significantly higher in Port Sheldon Township than 
any of the comparison communities. This data is 
consistent with general trends of population growth 
in the West Michigan region, and Ottawa County as a 
whole. It can be deduced that a notable portion of the 
County’s growth between the years 2010-2020 are new 
residents to Port Sheldon Township. It is likely that the 
Township’s growth will continue at a steady rate.

The positive population trend of the Township 
and surrounding area can have various planning 
implications including needs for parks and 
recreation amenities, pressures for more housing 
and commercial development, infrastructure (water, 
sewer, broadband, etc.), and other important aspects 
to consider. Being a desirable community with a rising 
population trend, the need to further identify and 
plan an appropriate balance between rural character 
and suburban development is explored and analyzed 
throughout this Plan.  

Age Distribution Trends

The age of a community’s population has implications 
for planning and development, whether it is a need for 
housing alternatives, an increased or decreased need 
for schools, or services for empty nesters and older 
residents. 

The table below compares the median age (the mid-
point where half the population is younger and half is 
older) of Port Sheldon Township and the comparison 
communities. Port Sheldon Township has a higher 
median age than Ottawa County and the State of 
Michigan as a whole. 

Table 3.	 Median Age, 2022

COMMUNITY MEDIAN AGE

Port Sheldon Township 44.3

Ottawa County 35.8

State of Michigan 39.9

Source: U.S. Census (2022: ACS 5-Year Subject Tables)

Age structure (analyzing which proportions of a 
municipality’s populations are in which stages of life) 
gives a nuanced view of the makeup of a community. 
In general, age groups can be broken down into the 
following overarching categories: 

•	 Pre-School age (under 5 years old): 4.6%

•	 School Aged (5-19 years old): 22.5%

•	 Family Forming (20-44 years old): 23.3%

•	 Mature Families (45-64 years old): 33.3%

•	 Retirement (over 65 years old): 16.3%

According to the ACS 2022 estimates, Port Sheldon 
Township has a higher median age of residents than 
both Ottawa County and the State of Michigan. With 
the rising population trends of the Township, it is 
possible that people are moving to the Township 
when their families reach a “mature” age (children 
likely in high school or older) or nearing retirement. It 
is also possible that a notable number of households 
in the Township contain multiple generations. 

It should also be acknowledged that the Township has 
a notable population of residents that are classified 
in the “Family Forming” age group. This can lend to 
the Township’s rising population in that families with 
younger children (elementary aged and middle school 
aged) are moving to the Township. 

11



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

This is also consistent with the near even portion of the 
population classified as “School Aged” which would 
indicate younger families with multiple children. 
Further, the lack of children under 5 years of age can 
also indicate that the Township is mostly comprised of 
families that already have older school-aged children 
and are moving to the Township when they are more 
established – rather than just starting out. This can be 
related to the rising cost of housing, in that families 
are more likely to afford a home in the Township once 
they have been established for several years, likely 
moving into their second or third purchased home.

However, considering the actual age bracket of 
Township residents, rather than just the age group, 

the age group with the largest percentage of 
Township residents is from 55 to 64 years old. This age 
group comprises about 19% of the Township’s total 
population. This percentage is significantly higher 
than the other age groups as shown in the Table 
below. 

Given the population breakdown of age groups as 
noted above, it can be deduced that the Township 
has a healthy population of all ages, ranging from 
elementary school aged to seniors and retirement age. 
A healthy distribution of ages can indicate positive 
longevity for a community, considering aspects such 
as school enrollment, homes available for purchase, 
parks and recreation amenities, and other aspects.

Table 5.	 Population Change, 2010-2030

PORT SHELDON TOWNSHIP OTTAWA COUNTY

COUNT %AGE COUNT %AGE

Under 5 years 241 4.60% 16,981 5.73%

5 to 14 years 727 13.88% 39,924 13.48%

15 to 19 years 452 8.63% 25,183 8.50%

20 to 24 years 256 4.89% 27,394 9.25%

25 to 34 years 473 9.03% 35,697 12.05%

35 to 44 years 490 9.35% 35,781 12.08%

45 to 54 years 745 14.22% 33,118 11.18%

55 to 64 years 1,000 19.09% 35,459 11.97%

65 to 74 years 605 11.55% 27,108 9.15%

75 years and Over 249 4.75% 19,538 6.60%

Total 5,238 100.00% 292,655 100.00%

Source: U.S. Census (2010 and 2020: ACS 5-Year Estimates) 

Credit: Holland Sentinel

12 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200

Under 5 years

5 to 14 years

15 to 19 years

20 to 24 years

25 to 34 years

35 to 44 years

45 to 54 years

55 to 64 years

65 to 74 years

75 years and Over

Age Distribution
Figure 1.	 Age Distribution, 2022

Racial Distribution

The Table below illustrates these racial distributions for the area in comparison with Port Sheldon Township, as 
well as Ottawa County and the State of Michigan.

Table 6.	 Racial Distribution, 2022

WHITE BLACK
HISPANIC 
ORIGIN 
(ANY RACE)

NATIVE 
AMERICAN ASIAN NATIVE HAWAIIAN/ 

PACIFIC ISLANDER OTHER

Port Sheldon Township 85.36% 0.61% 7.76% 0.38% 2.48% 0.04% 0.17%

Ottawa County 81.54% 1.71% 9.92% 0.25% 2.67% 0.03% 0.29%

State of Michigan 72.40% 13.48% 5.60% 0.47% 3.30% 0.03% 0.37%

Source: U.S. Census (2022: ACS 5-Year Subject Tables)

Portions of the population may be left out of these counts due to identifying as two or more races. This 
information is provided for reference purposes and will not influence land use decisions. 

As the data shows, the largest racial group in Port Sheldon Township, as well as Ottawa County and the State 
of Michigan as a whole, consists of white people. The second most common ethnicity in the Township is 
comprised of folks with Hispanic origin. This trend is commonly experienced throughout the Ottawa County 
region. 

Source: U.S. Census (2022: ACS 5-Year Subject Tables) 

13



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

HOUSING PROFILE
The quality, affordability, and availability of a 
community’s housing stock has a significant impact 
on the vitality and quality of the community as a 
whole. A review of the housing values, income, and 
economic development can indicate the potential 
growth of the Township. An expanding population 
creates the need for new housing. Analyzing trends 
of per capita income and unemployment of the 
Township also reveals the availability of jobs and what 
type of income they may provide.

The following analysis of trends relating to the number 
of housing units, the amount of owner-occupied, 
rental, and vacant units, and households by type 
helps evaluate the health of Port Sheldon Township’s 
housing stock. 

Housing Units

As of the 2022 Census, Port Sheldon Township area 
had 2,152 total occupied housing units. Each housing 
unit represents one dwelling unit- a house, apartment, 
condominium, etc. Based on the 2020 census, there 
were 2,225 housing units in Port Sheldon Township , 
85% of which were occupied, which leaves a remaining 
15% of vacant units. This data is consistent with trends 
in other demographic themes, such as population, 
age, and other data described in this Section. 

The increase of population in the Township, coupled 
with the growing number of families, can lend to a 
higher number of owner occupied units than vacant 
units. It should also be noted that the actual observed 
number of vacant units may be significantly lower 
than what the Census displays, given that seasonal 
homes are categorized as "vacant” units for Occupancy 
Status purposes. 

Further breaking down housing characteristics, 
ACS 5-Year estimates detail the number of housing 
units that are owner-occupied as opposed to renter-
occupied. According to the ACS 2022 Estimates, 
of all the occupied housing units in the Township, 
about 92% of the housing units are owner-occupied. 
This leaves approximately 8% of housing units in 
the Township renter-occupied. Again, this data is 
consistent with other trends explored throughout 
this Section, relating to population, age, and other 
demographic characteristics. An appropriate mix 
of both owner and renter occupied units indicates 
a healthy housing stock. However, the geographic 
location of Port Sheldon Township likely also lends 
to the lack of renter-occupied units. Typically, renter-
occupied units are closer in proximity to city centers 
and large employment areas. In the case of Port 
Sheldon Township, the fabric is more closely aligned 
with a bedroom community rather than a suburban 
or urban community. As such, the likelihood of 
an individual purchasing a home as a long-term 
investment is higher than a temporarily living 
situation.15+85

 Vacant

 Occupied

85%

15%

Figure 3.	 Occupancy Status (2020)

 
 
 
 
 

Source: U.S. Census (2020: ACS 5-Year Estimate Subject Tables)

14 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

Households

The average household size in Port Sheldon Township 
is 2.79 people, which is indicative of larger family sizes. 
The Table below breaks down the types of households 
in Port Sheldon Township, and slightly larger than 
Ottawa County as a whole. Majority of the households 
in Port Sheldon Township are comprised of family 

households with two or more people. Again, this data 
remains consistent with other population and housing 
trends discussed in this Chapter. The growing number 
of families in the Township and retirement age 
groups are aligned with the average household size, 
consisting of 2 or more people.

59 41

365

827

358

431

41

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1939 or earlier 1940 to 1959 1960 to 1979 1980 to 1999 2000 to 2009 2010 to 2019 2020 or later

Table 7.	 Households, 2022

TOTAL HOUSEHOLDS  
WITH 1 PERSON

HOUSEHOLDS WITH 2+ PEOPLE AVERAGE 
HOUSEHOLD 
SIZEFAMILY 

HOUSEHOLDS
MARRIED 
COUPLES

NON-FAMILY 
HOUSEHOLDS

Port Sheldon 

Township
1,858 111 1,519 1,335 339 2.79

Ottawa County 108,362 12,790 78,897 64,356 29,465 2.64

Source: U.S. Census (2022: ACS 5-Year Estimate Data Profiles)

The graph below categorizes housing construction by 
decade within the Township. Overall, the Township has 
been experiencing high rates of housing construction 
activity since 1980. 64% of all housing units were built 
after 1980. It reached the peak of building houses from 
1980 to 2000, with more than 800 units constructed. 
In the 2000s, the Township witnessed the construction 
of 830 new housing units. Port Sheldon generally has 
a younger stock of housing with 21.61% of the total 
housing stock being 40 years of age or older. These 
older homes tend to be costly to maintain and repair 
but can be considered valuable assets to a community 
if they reflect the heritage of the area or help to define 
the character or identity of the locality.

In 2022, the median home value for all owner-
occupied housing units reached $346,800, as opposed 
to a median value of $227,500 in 2010. The median 
home value in Port Sheldon Township increased 
by over $100,000 over the 10-year time period. This 
suggests that new home construction values are 
significantly higher than the existing housing stock. 
This data is consistent with general housing costs and 
trends experienced at the national level, as housing 
costs have continued to rise over the years. The year 
housing structures were built in the Township is 
also indicative of Ottawa County’s overall population 
increase over the last 20 years, with an uptick of units 
constructed in the 1980s and 1990s.

Figure 2.	 Year Structure Built (2022)

15



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

Housing Types

Additionally, to understand the whole picture 
regarding housing in the Township, it is also important 
to examine the types of existing housing units in 
the Township. Over recent years, nationwide trends 
regarding “missing middle” housing types has gained 
significant traction as a means to address rising 
costs of housing. Missing Middle housing types refers 
to housing units of the “medium” density variety, 
spanning (generally) from two-family homes to four-
family homes. This includes housing types such as 
duplexes, triplexes, fourplexes, townhomes, bungalow 
courts, and other similar housing types. 

Consistent with housing data as found in other 
communities in the region, Port Sheldon Township’s 
primary housing type consists of 1-unit detached 
single-family homes. This comprises about 88.5% of 
the Township’s housing stock. Housing type data, 

as advertised by the 2022 ACS 5-Year Estimates, also 
notes a significant lack of other housing types in the 
Township, as demonstrated on the graph below. 

Unlike many other communities, Port Sheldon 
Township has not experienced an increase in the 
number of apartment units. In general, many 
communities in the region have the largest 
percentage of single-family homes, lack of “missing 
middle” typologies, and a notable increase of higher 
density units, such as apartment buildings with 
5+ units. This could partially be due to the existing 
availability of utilities in the Township, where 
establishing higher density is not feasible in areas 
not connected to municipal infrastructure such as 
water and sewer. Throughout this Plan, the theme 
of potential housing developments and associated 
housing typologies is explored further.

Figure 4.	 Housing Types, 2022

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

         1, detached

         1, attached

         2 apartments

         3 or 4 apartments

         5 to 9 apartments

         10 or more apartments

         Mobile home or other type of housing

16 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

POPULATION PROJECTION
In order to project Port Sheldon Township’s future population, the Planning Team used a Cohort-Component 
Population Projection. Cohort-Component Population Projections are developed using the following 
methodology: 

Cohort-Component: The population is divided into ten-year age cohorts, using US Census data. At each ten-
year interval, individual age cohorts are moved up the ladder, adjusted based on the average death rate for each 
age group. In order to calculate the number of people aged 0-10, the population of women of childbearing age 
was calculated and a 10-year birthrate per thousand (from the Michigan Department of Community Health) was 
applied to predict new births.

Net Migration Calculation: To account for migration, the population projection also utilizes a net migration 
factor. This is calculated by running a Cohort-Component Analysis to predict the population change from 2010-
2020 and comparing the results to the actual 2020 population data. The Cohort-Component Analysis predicted 
a Township population of 4,696 people, compared to an actual population of 5,206. Therefore, there are an 
additional 515 people living in the Township than what would be predicted based on the population breakdown 
in 2010 – the Net Migration Calculation assumes that most of those are a result of in-migration to the Township. 
From 2010 to 2020, Port Sheldon had a +12% net migration rate.

For the purposes of this analysis, the net migration rate is assumed to hold constant through the 20-year 
projection period. The results of the population projection are shown below: 

Table 8.	 Population Projection

COMMUNITY 2020 POPULATION 2030 (PROJECTED) 2040 (PROJECTED)

Port Sheldon 5,206 6,250 7,446

17



RECOMMENDED FOR DISTRIBUTION
APRIL 23, 2025

Existing Conditions:  
Economy
This section describes the employment distribution, income, 
educational attainment, and other economic information of the 
population of Port Sheldon Township. It compares the Township to 
Ottawa County, and the State of Michigan to allow comparisons to 
be made by readers. It also includes a Tapestry Segmentation profile, 
which summarizes the segments, based on demographics and 
socioeconomic factors, that can be found in the Township.

ECONOMIC PROFILE

Occupation Summary

This section addresses the employment of residents 
of Port Sheldon Township. This is not an analysis of 
what kinds of jobs are available or what businesses 
are located within the community, but rather in what 
occupations residents are employed, regardless of 
where they work. According to research and data 
collected and analyzed by Lakeshore Advantage, an 
economic development agency in Ottawa County, the 
following industries are most prominent in the region:

•	 Food processing

•	 Office furniture

•	 Automotive

•	 Advanced manufacturing (use of automated 
machinery, systems, and technologies for 
manufacturing tasks and processes)

Lakeshore Advantage’s 2023 Industry Trends Report 
examines the area’s major employers and upcoming 
trends in job and talent acquisition and retention. 
The Report concluded a need to for major employers 
to emphasize “smart manufacturing” practices to 
support growth, job creation, and competitiveness. 

In this context, smart manufacturing refers to 
incorporating advanced technologies, artificial 
intelligence, robotics, and data analytics into 
manufacturing processes. It has also been identified 
by Lakeshore Advantage that these upcoming smart 
manufacturing practices are in fact correlated with job 
preservation and rising Gross Regional Product (GRP). 
This finding and theme is explored further in this Plan, 
and the related Economic Resiliency Plan.

Major occupational sectors for residents of the 
Township include manufacturing (30%), which is 
consistent with most other communities in the region, 
and educational healthcare services (24%), which is 
the second highest percentage of those employed 
in the Township over 16 years of age. Combined, 
the two industry sectors comprise about 54% of the 
total employed residents in the Township. Other 
occupational sectors in the Township appear to be 
less prevalent, with a slightly increased percentage 
of employed residents employed in the Retail Trade 
sector.

18 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

Table 9.	 Population Projection

INDUSTRY PORT SHELDON 
TOWNSHIP

TOTAL EMPLOYED PERSONS 
OVER 16 YEARS OF AGE 2,593

Agriculture, forestry, fishing, 

hunting, and mining
1%

Construction 4%

Manufacturing 30%

Wholesale Trade 1%

Retail Trade 10%

Transportation and warehousing, 

and utilities
4%

Information 1%

Finance and insurance, and real 

estate, and rental and leasing
6%

Professional, scientific, and 

management, and administrative 

and waste management services

7%

Educational services, and health 

care, and social assistance
24%

Arts, entertainment, and recreation, 

and accommodation and food 

services

7%

Other services, except public 

administration
3%

Public Administration 2%

Total 100.0%

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, (2022 American Community  
Survey 5-Year Estimates)

Income and Poverty

The median household income in Port Sheldon is 
$97,576 according to the 2022 American Community 
Survey 5 Year Estimates. This means that half of all 
workers earned more than this amount and half 
earned less. The median income for Ottawa County, 
according to the 2022 American Community Survey 
5-Year Estimates, is $85,652. Generally, the median 
incomes for both sample areas are similar, but 
Port Sheldon clearly has a higher median income 
than Ottawa County as a whole. According to the 
American Community Survey, about 2.13% (or 110) of 
the households in the Township earned an income in 
the last 12 months that places them below the poverty 
level. This percentage comprises a small portion of 
Township residents. This data is consistent with other 
trends explored in this Chapter, in that the Township’s 
housing median housing value and cost, educational 
attainment, distance from employment centers, 
and other factors indicate a population with higher 
incomes. This can also be related to the Township’s 
desirable location, with shoreline on Lake Michigan 
and natural character, which can create a higher cost 
of living compared to urbanized areas.

Income trends and poverty levels of Township 
residents highlight various aspects about a 
community’s population. For example, areas with 
higher median incomes can indicate that there is a 
higher likelihood of excess spending (or a means for 
excess spending) occurring in households. This can 
shift consumer trends in a region. Alternatively, lower 
incomes and higher populations of people within 
the poverty level threshold likely indicates less excess 
spending and spending focused on needs such as 
shelter, food, and other items. Further, poverty levels 
also relate to the portion of individuals in the Township 
that may be housing burdened, meaning they spend 
more than 30% of their income on monthly housing 
costs, such as rent or mortgage payments.

In terms of planning implications, the higher median 
income of Township residents may align with a need 
for more commercial and entertainment activities, 
such as shopping centers or retail stores, restaurants, 
breweries, and other forms of entertainment. Further, 
this may relate to other land use decisions, such as the 
need for more housing, to accommodate individuals 
in all stages of life with varying income levels, 
including fixed retirement incomes.

19



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

Educational Attainment 

This section analyzes the educational attainment in Port Sheldon and the comparison communities for persons 
aged 25 and older. Generally, the Township has similar levels of educational attainment compared to the 
Ottawa County and the State of Michigan. As shown in the table below, Port Sheldon Township shows similar 
educational attainment levels as Ottawa County and the State of Michigan.

Table 10.	Educational Attainment, 2022

EDUCATION LEVEL PORT SHELDON 
TOWNSHIP (2022) OTTAWA COUNTY (2022) STATE OF MICHIGAN 

(2022)

Less than 9th Grade 2.3% 2.3% 2.7%

9th – 12th Grade 4.5% 3.2% 5.5%

High School Graduate 25.5% 26.5% 28.1%

Some College, No Degree 19.3% 20.5% 21.9%

Associate’s Degree 5.5% 10% 9.7%

Bachelor’s Degree 27.4% 25% 19.5%

Graduate or Professional 

Degree
15.4% 12.4% 12.6%

Source: U.S. Census Bureau 2022 American Community Survey

Port Sheldon Township is within two school districts: 
Grand Haven Public Schools and West Olive Public 
Schools. Grand Haven Public Schools have a total 
enrollment of 5,411 (as of 2023) and West Ottawa 
Public Schools reported a 2023 enrollment of 6,590. 
According to the 2022 American Community Survey, 
about 1,040 Township residents are enrolled in 
grades K-12. There are about 229 students enrolled 
into college, and 31 students enrolled in graduate or 
professional schools.

Relating to educational attainment in the community, 
Port Sheldon residents on average are slightly more 
educated than Ottawa County residents as a whole. 
42.8% of people ages 25 and older in Port Sheldon 
received bachelor’s degree or higher, with 37.4 % in 
the County level. 93.2% of Port Sheldon residents ages 
25 and over have a high school diploma or more. In 
general, the higher educational attainment relates to a 
community’s occupational sectors, income levels, and 
housing tenue. In this perspective, this data is again 
consistent with other trends noted in this Chapter.

Credit: Holland Sentinel

20 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

Commuting 

An indication of this area’s economic position relative to the surrounding region can be illustrated in travel time 
to work for residents. The following table further outlines the time residents, age 16 and older, spend traveling to 
their place of employment, as well as which places of work can be reached in that radius.

The Table below shows that the vast majority of residents in the Township have a place of employment within 
10-24 minutes from their home. The remainder travel southeast towards Holland, Zeeland, or Olive Townships. 
Most (84.8 %) of Port Sheldon workers use private vehicles to travel alone to work, and another 3.7 % car-pooled. 
The majority of people, 73.6%, travel to work within 30 minutes, which is in line with the travel time to the 
employment centers of the cities of Holland and Grand Haven.

Table 11.	 Commuting Destinations, 2021

TRAVEL TIME TO WORK WORK CENTERS WITHIN TIMEFRAME % OF POPULATION

Less than 10 min Port Sheldon Township 3.5%

10 to 24 min Cities of Holland, Grand Haven, and Zeeland 58.2%

25 to 44 min City of Hudsonville and Allendale 29%

Greater than 45 min Cities of Grand Rapid, Walker, and Wyoming 9.2%

Associate’s Degree 5.5% 10%

Bachelor’s Degree 27.4% 25%

Graduate or Professional Degree 15.4% 12.4%

Source: U.S. Census Bureau 2022 American Community Survey.

21



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

TAPESTRY SEGMENTATION PROFILE
Tapestry segmentation profiles provide an accurate, 
detailed description of America’s neighborhoods, 
classifying them into unique segments based not 
only on demographics, but also socioeconomic 
characteristics. For Port Sheldon Township, there are 
three major segments which can provide information 
about the neighborhoods and its residents. The data 
included in this Section derives from Esri.

Green Acres (71.8%)

This Tapestry Segment describes the general 
consumer profile of approximately 71.8% of Township 
residents. Green Acres is generally characterized by 
country living and self-reliance. This group of people 
are more likely to fix items in their homes that may 
be broken, rather than buying new. They also enjoy 
hobbies and activities such as gardening, fishing, bike 
riding, hiking, camping, and other outdoor activities. 
This is also an older market, primarily comprised of 
older couples without children living in the home. 
The median age of this group is 43.9 years old and a 
median household income of $76,800. The average 
household budget index indicates that most of the 
individuals in this group spend their household 
income on:

•	 Healthcare

•	 Pensions and social security

•	 Education

•	 Entertainment and recreation

Consumers in this profile are also more likely to own a 
variety of vehicles, likely a late model, be interested in 
home improvement projects, be involved in a variety 
of community organizations, and like to play outdoor 
sports and keep active.

Middleburg (20.9%)

This second Tapestry Segment profile in Port Sheldon 
Township consists of the “Middleburg” group. This 
group is of significantly smaller percentage than the 
Green Acres group described above. The Middleburg 
group can be described as the following “Middleburg 
neighborhoods transformed from the easy pace of 
country living to semirural subdivisions in the last 
decade, as the housing boom spread beyond large 
metropolitan cities. Residents are traditional, family-
oriented consumers.”

The median age in this group is 36.1 years old, about 
5 years younger than the average age of the Green 
Acres profile. Middleburg individuals are more likely 
to buy American-made products and participate in 
the labor force. The Average Household Budget Index 
indicates the following average household spending 
on the following items:

•	 Transportation (vehicles)

•	 Healthcare

•	 Pensions & social security

•	 Apparel & services

•	 Food

People within this category are also more likely to 
spend excess funds on children’s toys and apparel 
or DIY home projects. This group is also interested in 
outdoor activities such as hunting, fishing, baseball, 
and biking. Entertainment choices are mostly family-
oriented.

Home Improvement (7.2%)

This group consists mostly of married couples, who are 
more likely to spend their money on takeout food and 
home improvement projects. The median age of this 
Segment is 37.7 years old, with a median household 
income of $72,100. The homes within this category 
are a bit older, likely constructed between years 1970 
and 2000. More than half consist of married couple 
families or single-parent families. About 20% of folks 
in this Segment profile rent their homes. Further, 
the Average Household Budget Index indicates the 
following areas where people in this Segment are 
most likely to spend their income:

•	 Pensions & social security

•	 Healthcare

•	 Entertainment & recreation

•	 Apparel & services

This group of individuals is also more likely to dine out 
of the home at chain restaurants and spend excess 
income on children’s toys and clothes.

22 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan





RECOMMENDED FOR DISTRIBUTION
APRIL 23, 2025

Natural Environment
Port Sheldon Township is blessed with abundant natural beauty 
and resources. It’s lakefront, dunes, waterways, farmland, and forests 
provide high quality of life and safeguard the natural environment, and 
protecting them is among the highest priorities for the community.

TOPOGRAPHY AND  
LAND CHARACTER
The bedrock formation that lies under Ottawa County 
consists of the edges of bowl-like formations that fill 
the Michigan Basin. The oldest rock is the Marshall 
Sandstone, which underlies the entire county. It is 
the uppermost bedrock in the southwest part of the 
county. The Michigan Formation overlaps the Marshall 
Sandstone in the southeastern part of the county. The 
Michigan Formation consists primarily of limestone, 
gypsum, and dolomite interbedded with shale and 
sandstone.

The land area of Ottawa County is the result of 
continental glaciation, which left the foundation rock 
buried by many feet of glacial debris. This occurred 
when ice sheets nearly one mile thick covered the 
Upper Midwest portion of the United States and 
Canada.

As the glaciers moved south, they carried billions of 
tons of rocks, which were crushed and ground as 
they moved. Changes in the temperature caused 
four major retreats and advances of the glaciers. 
The deposited materials were thoroughly mixed 
and redeposited again and again. Ottawa County 
was directly in the path of three of the four major 
advances. The mass of glacial drift that was deposited 
during the Wisconsin glacial period overlies the 
bedrock formations. Ottawa County is situated where 
the Michigan and Saginaw lobes of the Wisconsin ice 
sheet met.

The Township is generally flat, but there are some 
areas of steep slopes. The dominant natural features 
of the area are the dunes along Lake Michigan and 
the Pigeon River. These have a high erosion potential 
because of the slopes and soil conditions classifying 
them as “critical dune areas”.

24 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

CRITICAL DUNES
The State of Michigan has classified much of the 
Township’s coastline as “critical dune areas.” These 
land uses are located along the entire length of the 
lakeshore in the Township. According to the State of 
Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, 
and Energy (EGLE), critical dune areas are defined as:

“…public lands and private properties where develop-
mental, silvicultural, and recreational activities are 
regulated and a permit is required under Part 353, Sand 
Dunes Protection and Management, of the NREPA. The 
law balances the benef its of protecting, preserving, restor-
ing, and enhancing the diversity, quality, functions, and 
value of the critical dunes with the benef its of economic 
development, multiple uses, and public access.”

Michigan offers the largest assemblage of freshwater 
dunes in the world. Port Sheldon Township is home to 
a nearly 6-mile-long stretch of those sandy mountains. 
The sand dunes along the Lake Michigan shoreline 
provide a unique asset to Port Sheldon Township. 
Sand dunes provide protection to the coast against 
large storms and high waves. Not only do the sand 
dunes slow the rate of erosion of the shoreline, but 
they offer enhancement to the aesthetic quality of 
the Township. These dunes also provide benefits by 
providing homes for numerous varieties of vegetation, 
birds, and other wildlife. The vegetation helps to 
further stabilize the dune. 

Therefore, the protection of various dune grasses and 
shrubs is also important. The location of the areas 
identified as dune regions can be found on the map at 
the end of this Chapter.

There are about 877 acres of critical dune areas in Port 
Sheldon Township. The popularity of this shoreline 
and sand dune area has led to increased demand 
for residential development and industrial use 
(sand mining) within the dunes, creating a conflict 
between preservation and disturbance of this unique 
natural feature. In some shoreline communities, 
indiscriminate and unwise development has 
historically resulted in significant damage and in some 
cases elimination of the beautiful sand dune features.

To protect the sand dunes, the State of Michigan 
enacted the National Resources and Environmental 
Protection Act (Act 451 of 1994), administered by the 
Michigan Department of Great Lakes and Energy 
(EGLE). This act expands protection to areas identified 
as “critical dune areas.” 

Land within the designated critical dune areas 
is subject to strict development regulations and 
the MDEQ retains some final review and approval 
authority over local ordinances.

25



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

WETLANDS AND FLOODPLAINS
Wetlands are common in Michigan, although 
statewide loss of this valuable natural resource has 
been significant. Part 303 of the Natural Resources 
and Environmental Protection Act defines a wetland 
as:

“…land characterized by the presence of water at a 
frequency and duration suff icient to support, and that 
under normal circumstances does support, wetland veg-
etation or aquatic life and is commonly referred to as a 
bog, swamp, or marsh…”

“Wetland” is the collective term for marshes, swamps, 
bogs, and similar areas often found between open 
water and upland areas. Specifically in Port Sheldon 
Township, there are several types of wetland 
classifications that include:

•	 Freshwater ponds

•	 Freshwater Emergent Wetlands

•	 Freshwater Forested/Shrub Wetlands

Port Sheldon’s major wetlands are on the east side 
along tributaries of the Pigeon Lake and along or 
near Ten Hagen Creek. Major wetlands are subject to 
protection by the EGLE under several circumstances, if 
the wetland is:

•	 Connected to Lake Michigan,

•	 Located within 1,000 feet of Lake Michigan.

•	 Connected to an inland lake, pond, river, or stream.

•	 Located within 500 feet of an inland lake, pond, 
river or stream.

•	 Not connected to Lake Michigan, or an inland lake, 
pond, stream, or river, but are more than 5 acres in 
size and located in counties with a population of 
more than 100,000, such as Ottawa County.

•	 Not connected to Lake Michigan, an inland lake, 
pond, stream, or river, and less than 5 acres in size, 
but the EGLE has determined that these wetlands 
are essential to the preservation of the state’s 
natural resources and has notified the property 
owner.

Wetlands contribute to the quality of other natural 
resources, such as inland lakes, ground water, fisheries, 
wildlife, and Lake Michigan. Wetlands serve as storage 
areas for excess water and nutrients and controlling 
floods. In addition, acre for acre, wetlands produce 
more wildlife and plants than any other Michigan 
land cover type. Wetlands are especially important for 
breeding certain game fish and supporting a variety of 
unique plant and animal species.

Wetlands play a critical role in regulating the 
movement of water within watersheds. Wetlands 
are characterized by water saturation in the root 
zone, or above the soil surface, for a certain amount 
of time during the year. The fluctuation of the water 
table above and below the soil surface is unique to 
each wetland type. Port Sheldon Township has an 
abundance of wetlands that span the mid sections of 
the community.

26 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

Wetlands store precipitation and surface water and 
then slowly release the water in associated water 
resources, ground water, and the atmosphere. They 
help maintain the level of the water table and may 
serve as filters for sediments and organic matter. 
They may also serve as a sink to catch water, or 
transform nutrients, organic compounds, metals, 
and components of organic matter. Wetlands have 
the ability to impact levels of nitrogen, phosphorus, 
carbon, sulfur, and various metals. Without them, 
water quality decreases, areas are prone to flash 
flooding and habitat for specialized plants and animals 
is reduced.

The wetlands in Port Sheldon Township are primarily 
associated with drainages in the County. Wetlands 
include swamps, marshes, bogs and similar areas 
often found between open water and higher elevated 
areas. Wetlands are valuable natural resources that 
provide such important benefits as surface and 
ground water quality and storm water management.

Certain wetlands are regulated by the Michigan 
Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ). 
According to the MDEQ, a permit to drain, fill or 
modify a wetland must be obtained if the wetland(s) 
is five acres or larger or if the wetland is located within 
five hundred feet of surface water (i.e. lake or stream). 
Wetlands that are smaller than five acres may be 
regulated by a local community ordinance.

100-year floodplains are areas that are prone to flood 
one percent of the time in any given year. Specifically, 
in Port Sheldon Township, these areas are primarily 
located along the shorelines of the Pigeon River 
and Pigeon Lake as well as Sloan Pond and Ten 
Hagen Creek are within the 100-year floodplain. The 
boundaries of the floodplain are determined by the 
Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA).

One of the purposes of identifying the locations of 
floodplains or flood prone areas is to discourage 
incompatible urban development in such areas. 
Rather than building homes or structures in these 
areas, they should be utilized by compatible land uses 
such as for parks or natural areas.

27



(insert wetland and floodplain map)



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

WATERSHEDS AND DRAINAGE
A defining characteristic of the Township is the 
abundance of freshwater lakes, streams and wetlands. 
With continued development along the Lake 
Michigan and Pigeon Lake shorelines, unspoiled 
natural lakefront areas are becoming rare.

Pigeon River, Ten Hagen Creek and over ten other 
drainage-ways meander through the Township. 
Pigeon Lake and Lake Michigan are valuable resources 
for recreation and enjoyment by Township residents. 
These water features add appeal and identity to the 
community.

A watershed is a region of land that is drained by a 
particular river or river system. Watershed systems 
include many smaller tributaries such as creeks and 
streams that feed into a larger river and are influenced 
by elevation or the lay of the land. The Pigeon 
River Watershed is the primary watershed in Port 
Sheldon Township, which is fed by several other sub-
watersheds.

Water quality within a watershed is directly related 
to the land management practices within that 
watershed. For example, if a new development created 
a large amount of impervious surface (i.e. asphalt) and 
stormwater was not properly managed, it is possible 
that the flow of the runoff into the creek, stream, or 
river could be increased to a point that stream bank 
erosion occurs. Stream bank erosion has the potential 
of increasing silt material on the streambed, changing 
the chemistry of the water with phosphates, nitrogen, 
and other chemicals, and altering the turbidity of the 
water. All of these changes may have an effect on 
the wildlife that is dependent on the stream or river 
for survival. A watershed, being an area where all of 
these water attributes are interconnected, should be 
looked at closely when assessing the impacts of new 
development within the Township.

GROUNDWATER  
AND SURFACE WATER
As the population in Port Sheldon Township continues 
to grow, natural resources will inevitably be impacted. 
The groundwater supplies in the Township, even 
though abundant, can be affected as more areas 
become impervious and with greater demand placed 
on groundwater supplies.

The State of Michigan has provided funding to many 
of these organizations through the Clean Michigan 
Initiative Clean Water Fund. The funding will help 
organizations expand their database on failing septic 
systems, which includes identification and elimination 
of failing systems. Efforts to identify and eliminate 
point source polluting drains that are illegally 
connected to storm drains will also be strengthened 
with this funding.

According to Dr. Roberta Dow of the Michigan 
Groundwater Stewardship Program at Michigan State 
University, there are many different ways ground 
water can be polluted. Two primary contributors 
are application of fertilizer on crops and residential 
lawns and septic tank drain field effluent. Proper 
fertilizer application management and septic tank 
maintenance may help to significantly reduce nitrate 
levels.

Abandoned wells may also be a threat to ground water 
quality if they have not been properly closed. Open 
wells may expose groundwater supplies to surface 
contaminants.

29



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

SOILS AND FARMLAND 
The local topography is generally conducive for 
agricultural use. Soils information shows areas of 
prime farmland. Generally, most of Port Sheldon 
Township is located on sandy soils. The soils are 
generally considered poor for agriculture, although, 
through proper management of select specialty crops, 
they may produce yields. Port Sheldon Township has 
a number of successful blueberry farms, which grow 
best in well-drained, sandy soils, within its boundaries. 

Soil Types

There are a variety of soil types throughout Port 
Sheldon Township. Identifying these soils can help 
to evaluate potential uses of land and identify any 
problems that may be associated with soil conditions.

Port Sheldon Township is host to the Grattan Soil 
Association. This association includes Chelsea, Covert, 
Granby, Kaleva, Kingsville, Oakville, Plainfield, and 
Pipestone soils. These deep, well drained, sandy soils 
occur on slopes ranging from 0 to 70 percent. They 
form the dramatic slopes and rolling hills of the 
sand dunes, limiting the potential for farming, and 
restricting where homes and other structures can be 
built. Common uses for these soils include croplands 
and farming.

Due to their high permeability, Grattan soils may not 
be ideal for septic systems. Permeability is a crucial 
aspect for a properly functioning septic system, 
however, rapid drainage does not allow for adequate 
filtration and treatment of the water, leading to 
environmental and health risks.

Prime Farmland

Prime farmland, as defined by the U.S. Department of 
Agriculture, is land that has the best combination of 
physical and chemical characteristics for producing 
food, feed, forage, fiber, and oilseed crops and is 
available for these uses. It could be cultivated land, 
pastureland, forestland, or other land, but it is not 
urban or built-up land or water areas. The township 
does not contain prime farmland however it does 
contain farmland of local importance. This is land 
containing soils that have some evidence of being 
suitable for crop production.

Other farmland categories designated by the USDA 
located in Port Sheldon Township include Not 
Prime Farmland, which are areas of the Township 
not suitable for growing crops. This includes a large 
portion of the Township from the Lakeshore to the 
central portion of the Township.

The areas along Lake Michigan and around Pigeon 
Lake and Ten Hagen Creek have floodplain areas, 
wetlands and associated vegetation that can survive in 
the sandy soil conditions. The natural vegetation along 
the banks of the creeks needs to be maintained to 
control small floods, preserve natural habitat and limit 
soil erosion control.

30 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

(insert Prime Farmland map)



RECOMMENDED FOR DISTRIBUTION
APRIL 23, 2025

Existing Land Use
Current land uses allow the Township to consider the compatibility of 
new land uses and is a valuable tool when considering the day-to-day 
opportunities and challenges associated with land management and 
the delivery of key public services. The existing land use survey provides 
an inventory of land uses within the community and is a key source of 
background information used in developing the Master Plan.

OVERVIEW
Current land uses allow the Township to consider the 
compatibility of new land uses and is a valuable tool 
when considering the day-to-day opportunities and 
challenges associated with land management and 
the delivery of key public services. The existing land 
use survey provides an inventory of land uses within 
the community and is a key source of background 
information used in developing the Master Plan.

The total land area of Port Sheldon Township is 
approximately 22 square miles, or 14,000 acres divided 
into 18 full sections and portions of 6 sections along 
Lake Michigan. Port Sheldon is located halfway 
between the cities of Holland and Grand Haven on 
the Lake Michigan shore. The Township’s land is 
primarily used for residential, agricultural activities, or 
has remained as natural areas. Further, the Township’s 
development patterns indicate higher density, and 
more development focused on the southern portion 
of the Township, adjacent to Park Township, and the 
northern portion of the Township, surrounding US-
31 and Grand Haven Charter Township. Given this, 
the central portion of the Township (approximately 
between Croswell Street and Van Buren Street) is 
largely undeveloped or includes small pockets of 
homes on large rural residential lots.

The following map illustrates the existing land use 
in Port Sheldon Township as of 2024. The Existing 
Land Use Map is based on data collected by the State 

of Michigan, Port Sheldon Township, and Ottawa 
County. Port Sheldon is mostly rural in character, 
with much of its land acreage considered rural 
residential, agricultural, forested, or vacant/unused. 
Residential is the most prevalent use. Homes are 
scattered throughout the Township on varying lot 
sizes. The highest concentration of residential use 
exists along the Lake Michigan lakeshore, including 
the few subdivisions relatively close to the lakeshore. 
Additionally, a mobile home park is located in the 
northeast corner of the Township, just east of US-31.

Commercial and industrial land uses in the Township 
are very few. The Township’s only industrial area, 
the JH Campbell Plant, owned and operated by 
Consumers Energy, is scheduled for decommissioning 
in 2025. As such, a notable component of this Master 
Plan to be explored further in the Future Land Use 
Chapter, examines the impacts of the Plant closure, 
and how the loss of this major industrial facility will 
impact Port Sheldon Township and the region as a 
whole.

Other land uses such as public/semi-public including 
parks, Township Hall, Fire Station, and cemeteries are 
located at various locations throughout the Township. 
The following is a description of the specific land uses 
in the Township.

32 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

AGRICULTURAL
Large tracts of agricultural or open 
land account for a significant 
component the Township’s land. 
These open areas are located 
throughout the Township. The 
agricultural uses include specialty 
agricultural products such as 
blueberries, livestock (such as 
turkeys and fowl), and Christmas 
trees. A detailed description of farm 
soils and crops associated with the 
Township’s agricultural uses can 
be found in the “Natural Features” 
chapter. Areas designated as 
Agriculture in the Existing Land 
Use map generally include large 
swaths of active farmland with 
associated residential accessory 
uses. Most of the Township’s 
farmed areas are located on the 
eastern portion of the Township, 
south of US-31. This is consistent 
with the Prime Farmland map, 
which indicates “Farmland of 
Local Importance” concentrated 
generally within the same areas.

RESIDENTIAL
This existing land use category is comprised of the Township’s existing 
residential homes. In Port Sheldon Township, the majority of the housing 
stock can be classified into the following residential characteristics:

•	 Rural Residential

•	 Neighborhood Residential

Rural residential land uses differ from Agriculture land uses in that 
the land is utilized for primarily residential purposes with potentially 
accessory hobby farm activities. Rural residential land uses typically 
include a residential home with accessory buildings, such as pole 
barns, barns, and sheds. However, the land in this area is not intended 
for commercial farming, large production farming, livestock care, or 
agricultural processes. A majority of the existing homes in the Township 
are included in this category. A notable size of the Township’s land is 
designated as Rural Residential, where a single-family home is located on 
a large sized lot (about 1 acre in size or more).

Neighborhood Residential homes in the Township are less common. 
In general, these areas are comprised of homes located in clusters, 
closer together, which smaller lot sizes (less than 1 acre). These areas 
can be described as having a more “traditional” neighborhood fabric. 
Neighborhood Residential areas in Port Sheldon Township are generally 
located along the southern portion of the Township, adjacent to Park 
Township. Further, a cluster of neighborhood residential homes and a 
manufactured housing community are located on the north side of the 
Township, east of US-31.

33



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

LAKEFRONT RESIDENTIAL
In contrast to the “Residential” Existing Land Use 
category described above, Lakefront Residential land 
uses are those land uses with single-family homes 
located on Lake Michigan. The land use character is 
quite different on these parcels than other residential 
land uses in the Township. These lots are generally 
small and narrow, with only a single access point on 
narrow winding private streets.

Additionally, these homes are located close to one 
another, creating a higher density environment. These 
homes may also consist of a “resort” atmosphere, or 
perhaps are occupied only a portion of the year.

COMMERCIAL
Commercial sites are those that contain real estate 
intended for use by for-profit businesses, such as 
corner stores, grocery stores, restaurants, and malls. 
The commercial land uses identified within Port 
Sheldon Township include retail, service, and office 
types of facilities. Port Sheldon has two general 
commercial corridors. The first is located on the west 
side of Butternut Street, just south of Wildwood Drive. 
This area contains a restaurant, a party store, and some 
storage facilities, which attract local scaled business.

The other commercial corridor is located in the 
northeast corner of the Township, adjacent to US-
31. Specific commercial uses in this area include 
restaurants, service establishments, general retail 
shops, and offices. This corridor has the characteristics 
of highway-type commercial activity with a regional 
market consisting of Township residents as well as 
passersby using US-31. The Township’s existing zoning 
ordinance provides for two commercial districts, a 
general commercial district for uses along US- 31 
and a neighborhood commercial district for areas on 
Butternut Drive.

34 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

INDUSTRIAL
The only industrial area in Port Sheldon Township 
includes the Consumers Power Company JH Campbell 
facility, generally located between Croswell Drive and 
the Pigeon River (north/south) and between 160th 
Avenue and Olive Shore Avenue (east/west).

Although the Consumers Power operation includes 
a substantial number of acres, the taxes collected 
from this land use contribute heavily to the overall tax 
base. As stated above, this affords the Township the 
ability to limit the amount of additional commercial 
and industrial land uses. Currently, the Consumers 
industrial area contains a large swath of the 
Township’s land area. However, with the closure of the 
JH Campbell Plan in 2025, this is a significant land use 
concern to be addressed further in this Plan.

PUBLIC/SEMI-PUBLIC
Public/Semi-Public land uses are those that are 
typically owned and operated by government entities. 
One of the many assets in Port Sheldon Township 
is the high-quality and well-maintained parkland. 
The Township has numerous public parks located 
throughout the Township. These parks include Kouw 
Park, Windnest Park, Township Recreational Park, 
Sheldon Landing, Zwemer Park, Hemlock Crossing, 
Kirk Park, Weaver House of Pine Bend Park, Breakers 
Disc Golf at Summit Church, Olive Shores, Ottawa 
County Parks Nature Center, and Port Sheldon Natural 
Area. The Township includes additional park amenities 
included in this expansive parkland such as dog parks, 
boat launches, bike paths, athletic fields, disc golf and 
more.

The Public/Semi-Public land use also includes other 
similar land uses that are available for public access, 
such as the Township Hall and any local cemeteries.

35



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

VACANT
A notable characteristic of Port Sheldon Township 
is its natural beauty, mature growth trees, unique 
vegetation, and winding hills and roads. Given the 
Township’s general rural character, a significant 
portion of the Township’s land is vacant. The “vacant” 
Existing Land Use category encompasses the land 
within the Township that is generally untouched, or 
perhaps once-active farmland that is no longer being 
used. Areas designated as vacant can also be heavily 
forested without any development improvements.

	

36 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

(insert Existing Land Use map)



RECOMMENDED FOR DISTRIBUTION
APRIL 23, 2025

Transportation
Land use patterns and transportation systems are inherently 
interconnected.  Proximity to efficient and connected transportation 
networks is a primary factor in determining where new development 
occurs.  However, the traffic generated from new development often 
exceeds the capacity of transportation systems and traffic becomes 
more congested. As such, it is important for land use planning and 
transportation planning to be coordinated, and for the transportation 
system to allow individuals to get around not only by car, but also on 
foot, by bicycle, or by public transportation. This section is an analysis of 
the current transportation system in the Township.

EXISTING TRANSPORTATION 
ANALYSIS
Essentially, all of the existing road network in the 
Township is under the jurisdiction of the Ottawa 
County Road Commission (OCRC), or the Michigan 
Department of Transportation (MDOT). 

In general, the major transportation corridors in Port 
Sheldon Township are well-connected and provide 
access from one area of the Township to another, 
as well as into neighboring municipalities. The road 
network in the Township is comprised of an interstate 
highway, principal arterial roads, minor arterial roads, 
and collector streets. The major road corridors with 
the highest traffic volumes in Port Sheldon Township 
include US-31, Lakeshore Drive, Butternut Drive, and 
Port Sheldon Street. 

Given the rural character of Port Sheldon Township 
and in addition to the major road corridors, the 
Township also includes a number of  less traveled 
local streets. Local streets in the Township are 
typically used to access residential neighborhoods. 
Residential neighborhoods in the Township are largely 
characterized by their sparse spacing, rural nature, and 
large lot sizes. 

FUNCTIONAL CLASSIFICATION  
OF ROADWAYS
Regional planning and transportation agencies 
classify roadways based on their function using the 
standards in the Highway Functional Classification 
Concepts, Criteria and Procedures Manual (U.S. 
Department of Transportation, Federal Highway 
Administration, 2013), which follow the guidelines 
of the Federal-Aid Highway Act of 1973 and the 
Intermodal Surface Transportation Efficiency Act 
of 1991 (ISTEA).  The manual outlines a system of 
functional classification of streets for rural areas, small 
urban areas, and urbanizing areas.  Road classifications 
identify the appropriate type and volume of traffic 
for each segment of the road network, and establish 
expectations among residents, Township officials, 
and transportation engineers for the operational 
characteristics of each road.

The following map identifies the functional 
classification of the roadways in Port Sheldon 
Township. Knowing the functional road classifications 
can assist local units of government in prioritization 
and project identification for improving the 
transportation system. 

 

38 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

MAP: Functional Classification of Roadways

Insert: “O:\CLIENTS.M-P\Port Sheldon Township\2025 Master Plan\06-

Graphics\Maps\Transportation_8.5x11 Portrait Layout1.pdf”

 



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

Freeways

Freeways are designed to handle 
large volumes of traffic moving at 
high speeds over long distances. 
No freeways directly serve Port 
Sheldon Township.  Interstate 196, 
however, provides access from 
Holland south of Port Sheldon 
Township to the City of Grand 
Rapids to the northeast, and other 
areas such as Saugatuck and South 
Haven to the southwest. I-196 also 
leads into I-94 in the St. Joseph 
area; and from there provides 
access into Indiana and Illinois, 
particularly the City of Chicago.

Principal Arterials

Principal arterial roads and 
highways serve the major centers 
of activity, the highest traffic 
volume corridors, and the longest 
trips.  Principal arterials serve 
major traffic movements within 
the Township and region. Port 
Sheldon Township includes one 
major regional thoroughfare 
within its boundaries. US-31 is one 
of the most frequented north-
south connections within the 
Township, providing access to 
the City of Holland to the south, 
and the City of Grand Haven and 
Muskegon to the north. Adding to 
its regional significance, US-31 is 
the main corridor in the Township 
that provides goods and services 
such as shops, restaurants, grocery 
stores to Township residents, as 
well as residents in neighboring 
municipalities

Minor Arterials

Minor arterial roads interconnect 
with the principal arterial system 
and provide access to destinations 
of moderate distance with a lower 
level of traffic mobility. Minor 
arterial roads place more emphasis 
on land access than do principal 
arterials. Port Sheldon Township 
includes no minor arterial roads 
within its boundaries. 

Collector Roads

Collectors provide both access to 
abutting properties and traffic 
circulation within residential, 
commercial, industrial, and 
agricultural areas. The purpose of 
a collector road is to collect traffic 
from the Township and channel it 
to the arterial system. The existing 
inventory of collector roads in 
Port Sheldon Township include 
Lakeshore Drive, Butternut Drive, 
and Port Sheldon Street. 

County Road Improvements

The basic source of revenue 
for road maintenance and 
improvements is the gas and 
weight tax collected by the State 
through Act 51.  Most of these 
funds are collected through 
gas/diesel fuel purchases and 
vehicle registration fees. MDOT 
is ultimately responsible for 
routine maintenance on all state 
highways.  The Road Commission 
currently inventories the capacity 
and classification schedules of all 
roads and conducts maintenance 
and reconstruction based on these 
characteristics.

Most of the Ottawa County Road 
Commission road improvement 
projects involve basic repairs and 
maintenance including paving, 
patching, sealing, and drainage 
improvements. Some of the road 
projects in Port Sheldon Township 
as defined by the 2025-29 Ottawa 
County Road Commission Strategic 
Improvements Plan include surface 
maintenance projects such as 
seal coat resurfacing as well as 
shoulder widenings for various 
local roadways. 

Additionally, Port Sheldon 
Township is served by the 
Macatawa Area Coordinating 
Council (MACC), which is a federally 
designated metropolitan planning 
organization (MPO). MPO’s are 
required by federal legislation to 
assist with providing coordinated 
transportation planning processes 
in urban areas with populations 
greater than 50,000 people. The 
MACC works collaboratively with 
area transportation authorities 
to select and prioritize road 
improvement projects, allocate 
funding, and identify future 
projects, both motorized and non-
motorized, as well as public transit 
improvement projects and studies, 
and road surface ratings. 

40 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

WALKING AND BIKING

Port Sheldon Township has a 
well-connected non-motorized 
pathway network that connects 
residential neighborhoods, several 
county parks, and Sheldon Woods 
Elementary School. It also provides 
access to neighboring jurisdictions, 
such as Holland Township and 
Park Township to the south, and 
Grand Haven Township to the 
north. Non-motorized paths do not 
extend west across US-31 into Olive 
Township. The major road corridors 
on which the pathways are located 
include Lakeshore Drive, Butternut 
Drive, a small portion of West Olive 
Road from Hemlock Crossing Park 
north to Croswell, and Blair, from 
Sheldon Woods Elementary to 
Butternut Drive. In all these routes, 
bike infrastructure is located on a 
single side of the road.

PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION

Although transit systems are active 
in both the Holland area and Grand 
Haven, Port Sheldon Township is 
not currently served by any area 
transit system or authority. 

RAILROADS

Good rail service is an advantage in 
attracting industrial users who find 
this service increasingly difficult to 
find as railroads abandon smaller 
and unprofitable lines. There are 
two active railroad corridors in Port 
Sheldon Township, both operated 
by CSX. The first runs roughly 
north-south, parallel to US-31 on 
the west side of the road. The 
second runs east--west between 
Stanton and Taylor Streets before 
turning south and terminating at 
the site of the decommissioned J.H. 
Campbell power plant. 

41



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

Goal: 

AGRICULTURAL PRESERVATION 

Encourage the development of 
neighborhood nodes around key 
intersections to create vibrant, 
mixed-use areas with an emphasis 
on pedestrian connections, 
reducing the need for long 
commutes and encouraging 
walkable uses. 

Objectives: 
1.	 Explore opportunities to implement 

farmland preservation tools in the Township 
such as a Transfer of Development Rights 
Program or a Purchase of Development 
Rights Program. 

2.	 Sustain Agricultural Preservation areas, as 
defined in the Future Land Use Plan. 

3.	 Strengthen relationships with local 
producers to assist with farmland 
preservation, agri-business efforts, and 
succession efforts, as applicable. 

4.	 Keep abreast of land use and zoning policies 
that support the continuation of agricultural 
businesses and agri-tourism.

Goal: 

NATURAL FEATURES 
PRESERVATION & COASTAL 
RESILIENCY 

The citizens of Port Sheldon 
Township will continue to enjoy 
the natural features of the 
community as manifested in the 
rolling woodlands, meadows, 
wetlands and farmlands and 
the clean waters of the Pigeon 
River and its tributaries. A central 
purpose of this Master Plan is the 
preservation of these valuable 
assets both as natural areas and 
for recreational purposes to serve 
current and future residents. 

Objectives: 
1.	 Continue to monitor upcoming trends 

and best management practices for 
low impact development (LID) into local 
zoning and development regulations. 

2.	 Establish mechanisms to assure the 
inclusion and maintenance of open and 
natural areas in private development. 

3.	 Seek opportunities to acquire property for 
preservation purposes when available.

4.	 Continue to monitor planning, policy, or 
zoning trends relating to coastal resiliency 
and critical dune preservation in the 
Township.

5.	 Continue to foster relationships with 
environmental agencies, such as EGLE, 
the Ottawa County Conservation District, 
and the MACC to support preservation 
policies and best practices.

Goal & Objectives

42 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

Goal: 

LAND USE & SMART  
GROWTH MANAGEMENT 

Port Sheldon Township will 
preserve its character by 
managing growth that preserves 
and complements the natural 
features of the community.

Objectives: 
1.	 Appropriately scale commercial, industrial, 

and residential development that is 
carefully integrated with natural features.

2.	 Utilize the Master Plan to guide growth 
and development and avoid land use 
conflicts. 

3.	 Encourage innovation and creativity in 
design, landscaping, and development 
techniques. 

4.	 Steer appropriate land uses, both 
residential and nonresidential, to specific 
areas of the Township, where public utility 
connections exist, or are planned.

5.	 Develop land use policies that accurately 
reflect the Township’s direction for 
growth, while maintaining the balance 
of preserving rural character, such as an 
urban services boundary.

6.	 Support zoning mechanisms to permit 
open space developments and design 
techniques as an option for traditional 
land divisions.

Goal: 

HOUSING & NEIGHBORHOODS 

Maintain and support the 
Township’s place in Ottawa 
County that provides safe, 
attractive, and vibrant 
neighborhoods that can 
accommodate residents at all 
stages of life.

Objectives: 
1.	 Support a system of organized land use 

to provide greater housing choices, where 
new and redevelopment areas respect and 
integrate with existing neighborhoods. 

2.	 Encourage residential developments 
which are needed by persons of all ages, 
incomes and household sizes.

3.	 Support and encourage opportunities for 
new housing in the Township targeted to 
appropriate areas.

4.	 Maintain the delicate balance between 
rural agricultural land and residential 
development – especially in areas defined 
as Agricultural Preservation.

5.	 Encourage housing types and associated 
density that fit seamlessly into the 
Township’s existing character and context. 

6.	 Establish and implement zoning 
and other regulatory measures to 
accommodate housing that addresses all 
income and life cycle needs.

43



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

Goal: 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

Retain the Township’s existing 
businesses and small-scale 
commercial nodes. Promote 
a mix of commercial and 
appropriate industrial uses in 
defined locations that provide 
desired employment, goods, and 
services to the Township and 
Ottawa County region. 

Objectives: 
1.	 Support and consider appropriately scaled 

economic development opportunities 
in the Township, such as shops and 
restaurants and industrial businesses, 
where appropriate. 

2.	 Encourage economic development that 
responds to the changing economy while 
positioning the Township to enhance 
its tax base and maintain a stable and 
diverse revenue source. 

3.	 Assist the education and business 
communities in developing a competitive 
workforce to provide job skills demanded 
by the regional marketplace and 
employment opportunities for local 
graduates. 

4.	 Target outreach to innovative companies 
(knowledge-based and high technology 
industrial) to ensure a diverse and resilient 
economic base. 

5.	 Utilize the Township’s prime geographic 
location and access to popular adjacent 
communities to market the Township as a 
destination for tourism and visitors.

Goal: 

TRANSPORTATION 

The roadway network in Port 
Sheldon Township will be 
developed and maintained to 
safely and effectively serve the 
needs of the Township and the 
region, providing efficient and 
aesthetically attractive linkages 
between neighborhoods, 
shopping and employment 
centers. 

Objectives: 
1.	 Establish and keep abreast of mechanisms 

to preserve the rural character of existing 
roads such as increased front yard 
setbacks and cluster design techniques 
along key corridors.

2.	 Implement and maintain effective access 
management techniques to optimize the 
carrying capacity of arterial roads in the 
Township. 

3.	 Maintain the Township’s high-quality 
network of bike trails and implement 
the Township’s Non-Motorized Plan 
to enhance bike network connectivity 
whenever feasible. 

4.	 Promote the construction of non-
motorized and/or pedestrian 
infrastructure on both sides of streets 
to enhance safety and connectivity and 
implement protected pedestrian crossings 
when feasible.

5.	 Enhance bike and sidewalk infrastructure 
to connect neighborhoods to one another, 
as well as to neighboring community 
nodes, as applicable.

6.	 Ensure commercial, industrial, and 
residential developments include a 
connected street and bike network in site 
plans to discourage cul-de-sac designs.

7.	 Continue working relationships 
with public road agencies to explore 
opportunities for road enhancements and 
continued maintenance efforts.

44 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

Goal: 

PARKS, TRAILS, & OPEN SPACE 

Continue to invest in existing 
recreation facilities, and consider 
new facilities, to provide quality 
of life benefits for Township 
residents, including active living, 
accessibility to recreation, and 
environmental preservation.

Objectives: 
1.	 Continue to build out the Township’s 

non-motorized pathway network, 
including establishing connections to key 
destinations within the Township and to 
regional trail networks.

2.	 Provide new parks and/or recreation 
areas within new and redeveloped 
developments and retrofitted existing 
development.

3.	 Pursue funding sources and develop 
partnerships and advocates to manage 
park needs, and study creation and 
management of future nature preserve 
areas.

4.	 Develop, maintain, and preserve sufficient 
open space and recreation facilities to fully 
satisfy the wide variety of recreation needs 
of residents.

5.	 Explore opportunities for future parkland 
in the Township by means such as 
updating policy to include distribution of 
parkland and/or open space throughout 
the Township so as to best serve all 
geographic areas of the community.

6.	 Continue to implement the Township’s 
Parks and Recreation Master Plan and 
update every 5 years.

7.	 Foster and maintain cooperative 
arrangements with the Ottawa County 
Parks Department regarding park 
planning and development.

45



RECOMMENDED FOR DISTRIBUTION
APRIL 23, 2025

Future Land Use Plan
A significant element in the Port Sheldon Township Master Plan is the 
development of the Future Land Use Plan. The purpose of a Future 
Land Use Plan is to help shape the future fabric of a community 
by designating certain land uses in specific areas. This process is 
typically used to assist with future zoning decisions, zoning ordinance 
development and/or amendments, infrastructure boundaries, decisions 
on future developments, and more.

OVERVIEW
Because Port Sheldon Township is a growing 
community with different land use types and needs, 
the first step in the future land use planning process is 
determining which areas of the Township should stay 
the same, if an area should change, and how those 
areas should be changed.

As a result, a Township Framework map was created. 
The Township Framework map assigns a future action 
to each and every parcel in the Township through 
an in-depth analysis of existing land uses, existing 
physical conditions, parcel vacancies, and other 
factors. These actions are then later analyzed further 
and assigned to various Future Land Use designations. 
Essentially, the Township Framework is intended to 
create a consensus overarching vision of smart growth 
and/or development, while the Future Land Use map 
and categories provide a deeper analysis to each of the 
Framework ideas. The Township Framework categories 
can be described as:

PRESERVE

These are the parcels within Port Sheldon Township 
that are planned to remain mostly the same for 
the foreseeable future. A major goal of the preserve 
category is to maintain the Township’s rural character 
in appropriate areas, preserve active agricultural 
land, retain the Township’s high-quality parkland, 
and sustain the Township’s existing residential areas. 
Another consideration given to the Preserve category 
is valuing the Township’s scenic natural beauty, which 
is exemplified by the Lakeshore Drive, Butternut Drive, 
Crosswell Street, Van Buren Street, and Sand Drive 
corridors. A key driver of this Plan is to preserve the 
Township’s existing natural beauty – which is also a 
notable contributing factor to the Township’s growth 
pressures. As such, it is a significant component of the 
planning process to identify and recognize areas of the 
Township that may be appropriate for new land uses, 
while also balancing that with preservation of existing 
character and natural beauty.

46 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

ENHANCE

This Township Framework category was determined 
by analyzing the parcels within the Township that 
should remain generally the same in land use but 
could benefit with minimal enhancements or 
improvements. For example, some “Enhance” areas 
within the Township could be improved over time 
by creating nonmotorized or sidewalk connections, 
off-street neighborhood connections, general site 
improvements (e.g. landscaping, lighting, or signage 
in commercial areas), or other simple beautification 
measures. However, it is not intended that these areas 
would drastically change in land use.

Additionally, some areas designated as “Enhance” may 
also be opportunities to target residential housing 
and neighborhoods. This type of “Enhance” areas 
include those located on the west side of US-31, north 
of the Port Sheldon Street Corridor, and north of 
New Holland Street. These areas may be subject to 
development pressures in the future, given existing 
and planned public utility connections. “Enhance” 
areas differ from those designated as “Develop” 
largely due to planned land uses. “Enhance” areas 
are planned to remain the same in land use, while 
“Develop” areas may be opportunities for new land 
uses.

In effort to recognize the Township’s goal to support 
appropriate housing development, these specific 
areas (noted above) designated as “Enhance” have 
been identified as potential opportunities for housing 
development of appropriate density, as further 
described in the Future Land Use Plan.

Any new residential housing should be clustered or 
designed with notable open space, as to prevent any 
substantial deterioration of the Township’s natural 
character and existing mature growth trees.

DEVELOP

Areas designated as “Develop” are those identified 
by existing commercial development areas and 
their immediate periphery. Here, there may be 
opportunities to enhance the Township’s commercial 
activities, such as small-scale grocery or retail, 
restaurants, or coffee shops. “Develop” areas are also 
intended to plan for and accommodate new potential 
land uses, outside of what already exists. Further, the 
areas designated as “Develop” are areas where public 
utility extensions would most likely take place or are 
already existing.

Residential housing developments may also be 
appropriate in these areas. A majority of the “Develop” 
areas are concentrated around US-31. A small pocket 
of “Develop” also is located at the Butternut Drive and 
Blair Street intersection, where a group of commercial 
businesses already exist. These two pockets of 
“Develop” designations may have opportunities to 
permit infill development, as appropriate. Suitable 
land uses and intended built character are described 
further in the Future Land Use Plan.

CONSUMERS ENERGY PARCELS

These areas indicate the parcels owned by Consumers 
Energy. These are subject to the subarea plan as 
further described in the Future Land Use Chapter.

47



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

TOWNSHIP NODES

Areas on the Township Framework Map that are 
encircled as a “Township Node” indicate more of a 
structural component to the overall intended land 
use vision. Township Nodes are those areas that are 
known locally as a community destination or area of 
significance. In this context, by identifying important 
nodes of activity in the Township, the land use vision 
subsequently takes place. Nodes in the Township 
includes areas such as Stanton Corners, the Lakeshore 
Drive and Butternut Drive intersection, commercial 
uses near Butternut Drive and Blair Street, the West 
Olive hamlet, and the JH Campbell Plant. In general, 
a node may include areas of commercial activity, 
gathering places, schools, civic buildings, and other 
prominent community features.

SCENIC CORRIDORS

As previously noted, Port Sheldon Township is known 
in the West Michigan region for its natural scenery and 
“small town” environment. While the Township has 
experienced growth in population over the years and 
is projected to continue on a steady growth trajectory, 
it is also important to recognize the street and 
nonmotorized segments that provide the foundation 
that which makes the Township unique.

Lakeshore Drive is known throughout the region as 
a popular corridor for cycling, recreation, and scenic 
travel. The Corridor is lined with mature growth trees 
and winding curves that make it a unique segment 
in the region. Further, other street segments, such as 
Butternut Drive, Van Buren Street, Croswell Street, and 
Sand Drive have similar qualities in that the existing 
character should be recognized and preserved. These 
corridors have been identified as “Scenic Corridors” 
in that the land uses should remain generally the 
same, with potential enhancement for nonmotorized 
pathways and multi-modal transportation 
connections.

TOWNSHIP GATEWAYS

Port Sheldon Township has its own sense of character 
and identity in the West Michigan region. The 
Township has several small pockets of commercial 
activity, as identified by the nodes. With that, those 
several areas have taken a unique identity on their 
own, for example, Stanton Corners and West Olive. 
Township Gateways have been identified on the 
Framework Map for further analysis of the Township’s 
land use and transportation context. Gateways are 
general points of identification in the Township and 
are the main corridors for which people travel to 
enter and exit. Outside of the US-31 Corridor and the 
small-scale node areas, there may be opportunities to 
elevate the Township’s presence and create a unique 
identity for other areas that are frequently traveled. As 
such, several potential gateways have been identified 
on the Township Framework Map.

KEY CORRIDORS

These road segments within the Township indicate 
other frequently traveled corridors. In many cases, 
these corridors connect the Township to neighboring 
communities, as well as to destinations within the 
Township, such as residential homes, neighborhoods, 
and recreation. While these corridors may not have 
the “scenic Corridor” designation, it is still significant 
to consider how these corridors are important to the 
region. This designation is also intended to serve as 
a structural framework for the Future Land Use Plan. 
While specific land uses are not identified here, these 
corridors provide a significant element in the planning 
process.

48 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

(insert Township Framework map)



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

51



RECOMMENDED FOR DISTRIBUTION
APRIL 23, 2025

Future Land Use Categories

AGRICULTURAL PRESERVATION

The Agricultural preservation Future Land Use category is intended to 
support and encourage the continuance of agricultural land uses and 
associated activities. Port Sheldon Township historically has a rich presence 
in the West Michigan region for agricultural activities, most notably the 
blueberry fields. The Township’s prime location within close proximity to Lake 
Michigan, and other factors such as soil composition, make it an idea location 
for blueberry plants to thrive. It is a goal of this Master Plan and subsequent 
zoning efforts to foster relationships with local agricultural producers and 
assist with succession efforts as applicable and appropriate. 

52 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

General Characteristics

In areas designated as Agricultural Preservation, 
agricultural land uses should be the dominant 
landscape with accessory single-family residential. 
This can include the production of crops, raising 
of  livestock, and other similar activities. Further, 
properties in this designation should be permitted 
to conduct accessory uses, such as agri-businesses, 
to allow farmers options for supplemental income. 
Argi-business activities may include u-pick operations, 
barn event venues, cider mills, petting farms, or other 
similar activities. 

Further, properties in this category should be 
discouraged from future utility connections and 
excessive lot splits, as to prevent active farmland areas 
from being reduced over time by the construction of 
new homes on large lots. 

Appropriate Land Uses

Appropriate uses include dwelling units matching the 
character and density of the surrounding uses, parks, 
agri-businesses, and farms including the keeping of 
large and small animals, including bees, chickens, and 
other domesticated farm animals, as well as growing 
crops.

Streets and Transportation

Streets in Agricultural Preservation areas are typically 
higher in speed and can accommodate larger vehicles 
transporting heavy equipment needed for agricultural 
purposes. Many of these streets located in the 
Agricultural Preservation area(s) are classified as major 
collectors, or local roads. Private streets should not be 
permitted areas intended for Agricultural Preservation. 
Homes and other developments should be accessible 
by main roads, maintained by the Ottawa County 
Road Commission. Building and Site Design

New homes and accessory structures should be 
designed with quality materials and should be 
consistent with surrounding homes in terms of 
scale, massing, and site design. Structures should be 
consistent in character with agricultural buildings. 

Non-Motorized Trails may also be appropriate, 
especially within the utility corridors that branch off 
from the JH Campbell Plant Site.

Design Guidelines

Lot Dimensions:
Recommended Lot Areas: Consistent with 
surrounding character.

Recommended Lot Width: Consistent with 
surrounding character and consistent with the 
Township current Zoning Ordinance specifications for 
the Agricultural District. Parcels in this category should 
have a robust minimum frontage standard, so as to 
prevent excessive lot splits and reduction of productive 
agricultural land.

Building Setbacks:
Minimum / Maximum / Side / Rear: Consistent with 
surrounding character and consistent with the current 
lot dimensions as specified in the Township Zoning 
Ordinance for the Agricultural District. The Township 
should consider a maximum front yard setback in 
areas designated as Agricultural Preservation, to 
minimize the occurrence of excessive driveways 
or shared driveways, which can have impacts on 
stormwater and drainage. 

Building Height:
Maximum: Consistent with surrounding character and 
the Township Zoning Ordinance specifications for the 
Agricultural District.

53



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

General Characteristics

This Future Land Use Category is characterized by 
existing low-density residential areas in the Township. 
These areas are typically comprised of single-family 
homes on larger size lots. Parcels in the Township 
that are included in this category are planned to 
encompass the existing large lot residential land uses, 
but also incorporate small-scale agricultural land uses 
and vacant land/open space areas. This category is also 
intended to preserve the Township’s natural beauty 
corridors, such as Lakeshore Drive. 

Appropriate Land Uses 

Typical land uses in this category include small-
scale agricultural businesses and hobby farms, 
single-family residential homes on large lots with 
accessory structures, such as pole barns, and open 
space. It is the intent of this category to preserve, 
to the highest extent possible, the mature growth 
trees and environmental landscape in the Township. 
Parcels in this category may also include future parks 
or recreation opportunities, or even preserved open 
space.

RURAL-RESIDENTIAL

A majority of the land in Port Sheldon Township can be characterized as 
rural residential. Recognizing the Township’s agricultural roots and natural 
beauty, large lot residential with accessory farming activities and accessory 
residential buildings is a prominent land use in the Township’s existing land 
use fabric.   

54 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

Streets and Transportation 

Development in this category should be located 
with direct access to main roads in the Township, 
maintained by the Ottawa County Road Commission. 
Parcels in this category should also include robust 
frontage requirements, so as to prevent excessive lot 
splits and shared driveways and easements leading 
to landlocked parcels. Private streets should be highly 
discouraged, if not prohibited. 

Non-Motorized Trails may also be appropriate, 
especially within the utility corridors that branch off 
from the JH Campbell Plant Site.

Building and Site Design 

New homes should be consistent with existing 
character and should be designed with quality 
materials and should be consistent with surrounding 
homes in terms of scale, massing, and site design.

Design Guidelines 

Lot Dimensions 
Recommended Lot Size: Consistent with surrounding 
character. 

Recommended Lot Width: Consistent with 
surrounding character and consistent with existing 
development, with higher emphasis on minimum 
lot frontage on main roads, to prevent excessive lot 
splits resulting in landlock parcels only accessed by 
easements or shared driveways.  

Building Setbacks
Minimum Front / Side / Rear: Consistent with 
surrounding character and consistent with current lot 
dimensions. Setbacks should be substantial enough to 
support preservation of existing natural features.

Building Height
Maximum: Consistent with surrounding character. 

55



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

General Characteristics

This designation is characterized by moderate to 
medium-density residential neighborhoods within 
close proximity to US-31. These areas are intended 
to support traditional neighborhood development, 
in some circumstances, mixed residential 
neighborhoods. Neighborhood Residential land 
uses can include single-family residential homes 
and attached low-density residential homes (such as 
cottage courts, townhomes, or other similar housing 
typologies). Neighborhood Residential land uses 
are connected to water and sewer, with possible 
connections crossing US-31. Because of this, this area 
is intended to support smaller lot sizes and homes 
constructed closer together.  

Appropriate Land Uses

Typical uses include single famly homes, schools, 
parks, open space, and other compatible municipal or 
civic uses. Neighborhoods should be designed with 
connected street patterns, including connections to 
existing neighborhoods where possible, and should 
have amenities within their boundaries. Businesses 
and retail should be within walking or biking distance, 
along major corridors. Neighborhood amenities are 
also appropriate here, such as a community pool, 
clubhouse, parks, or trails. 

East of US-31, non-single-family typologies may be 
appropriate if a density of 2 units per acre is not 
exceeded and developments are designed to use 
clustered housing to preserve natural space.

NEIGHBORHOOD RESIDENTIAL

The purpose and intent of this Future Land 
Use category is to provide opportunities in 
Port Sheldon Township for residential land uses 
in a traditional neighborhood setting. Neighborhood Residential areas 
are likely more appropriate with public utility connections, and should be 
designed in harmony with the Township’s rural and wooded character.

56 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

Streets and Transportation

Streets should feature elements such as sidewalks, 
pedestrian scale lighting, and a tree canopy. 
Streets can be classified as minor arterials or major 
collectors. In some cases, private streets may be 
appropriate to accommodate neighborhood 
residential development. In many cases, due to the 
availability of utilities and flat land surrounding US-31, 
Neighborhood Residential streets are planned for a 
“grid” type of structure, with multiple ingress/egress 
onto main roads.

Building and Site Design

Sites should be designed to give homes a front 
and back yard (or nearby usable green space), 
while maintaining a human, walkable scale that 
promotes social interaction and reduces unnecessary 
and unused lawn space. Buildings should be 
designed with quality materials and consistent with 
architectural styles common in the greater Port 
Sheldon/Holland/Grand Haven area. Alternative 
architectural styles may be appropriate in some 
neighborhoods, provided that the unique design 
enhances the general character of the area. 

Design Guidelines

Building Setbacks:
Minimum Front / Side / Rear: Setbacks in this 
category should be minimal, to accommodate smaller 
lot sizes and a higher density environment. Reduced 
setbacks for detached accessory structures, such 
as sheds small gardens, or other similar residential 
accessory structures, should be considered. 

Building Height:
Maximum: Consistent with existing neighborhoods 
east of US-31. Likely around 2 – 2.5 stories. 

57



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

LAKEFRONT RESIDENTIAL

Recognizing the Township’s unique 
shoreline features, this category is 
intended to capture the properties 
(mostly residential) that have direct 
access to Lake Michigan. These 
parcels generally have distinct 
character, in that the lots tend to be 
smaller, are more narrow, and have 
significantly more development 
considerations. 

General Characteristics 

The Lakefront Residential Future Land Use category 
includes all the existing low density residential homes 
situated along the shore of Lake Michigan, along 
with connecting residential streets. This category 
is intended to preserve the existing vegetation and 
natural mature growth trees, with complimentary 
residential land uses. 

58 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

Appropriate Land Uses 

Appropriate land uses in this category include single-
family residential homes on sizeable lots. In some 
circumstances, two-family homes may be appropriate. 
Other appropriate land uses may include public 
access beaches, open space, parks, and other similar 
activities. 

Streets & Transportation 

Streets of existing character are appropriate for 
Lakeshore Residential areas. These streets are not 
intended to accommodate heavy traffic, or traffic 
at high speeds. Truck traffic is also inappropriate 
in these areas. To elevate existing roadways, the 
Township should consider opportunities for widened 
paved shoulders and/or separated pathways for safe 
walking and biking. These non-motorized facilities 
should connect Lakeshore residential homes and 
neighborhoods to popular lakefront destinations such 
as Windsnest Park or Zwemer Park. 

Building and Site Design

Building Setbacks:
Minimum Front / Side / Rear: Setbacks should be 
consistent with the surrounding environment, while 
also considering environmental factors and coastal 
resiliency. 

Building Height:
Maximum: Consistent with existing residential homes 
and neighborhood

59



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

NEIGHBORHOOD MIXED USE

The purpose and intent of this Future Land Use category is to analyze areas 
within the Township where small-scale commercial uses already exist, and 
provide parameters for how these areas could be elevated in ways that are 
appropriate to Port Sheldon Township.

Existing character: A small-scale commercial business intended to serve the local community

Existing character: A small-scale commercial 
business intended to serve the local community

General Characteristics

The Neighborhood Mixed Use area is a low intensity 
commercial category intended for small-scale retail, 
and amenities. The Neighborhood Commercial 
districts should provide amenities to the surrounding 
residential areas in a human scale and walkable, 
though not necessarily urban, format. Neighborhood 
Commercial land uses are concentrated in smaller 
pockets adjacent to community nodes such as schools 
and retail centers and higher density housing. Areas 
designated for Neighborhood Mixed Use might also 
include adjacent residential homes of appropriate 
density.

Appropriate Land Uses

Low-intensity businesses such as personal services, 
small offices (including medical offices), and 
convenience stores, as well as religious institutions, 
schools, and similar uses. Residential uses, including 
small footprint dingle-family, single- family 
neighborhoods, single multi-family and “missing 
middle” style housing units, are also appropriate.

60 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

Streets and Transportation

All streets lined with Neighborhood Commercial uses 
should have sidewalks or bike paths on both sides. 
Streets within this designation should also consider 
connectivity to US-31 so as to ensure safe walking and 
biking conditions for pedestrians and bicyclists.

Building and Site Design

Buildings should be built with high-quality materials 
and should be architecturally compatible with 
surrounding neighborhoods. Buildings with a 
connection to the street, including designs with 
attractive front facades, entrances, and porches are all 
highly encouraged.

Parking areas may be located in the front, side, or rear 
yards for buildings, but, where practical, buildings 
should front the street and provide parking to the 
rear. Large areas of parking should be broken up 
with landscaped islands and trees. Parking space 
requirements may vary based on the location of the 
development and availability of shared parking.

Design Guidelines

Building Setbacks:
Recommended Front: 15-35 feet

Recommended Sides: 15-40 feet, larger setbacks 
to allow driveways to rear parking could also be 
appropriate

Recommended Rear: As needed for parking and 
loading

Building Height:
Minimum: 1 story

Maximum: 2.5-3 stories, lower heights may be most 
appropriate considering adjacent residential, and 
taller buildings may be appropriate when supported 
by appropriate infrastructure and not out of scale with 
the surrounding character

Planned Character: Above examples of small-scale 
mixed-use character in Jenison, MI and Hudsonville, MI

61



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

RURAL ENTERPRISE

The purpose and intent of the Rural Enterprise Future Land Use category is to 
provide parameters for the continued development of the US-31 Corridor. This 
category sets a foundation for appropriate land uses and elevated building 
and site design requirements for larger-scale commercial facilities.

The Pipeline Underground Saloon is an example of a hospitality business 
that promotes rural character in its site design and architecture.

General Characteristics

Rural Enterprise areas are intended to support the 
needs of commercial and industrial businesses, and 
ensure sufficient tax base for the Township, while 
using rural site design, intensity, and character. In 
Port Sheldon Township, the General Commercial land 
uses are concentrated along the east side of the US-
31 Corridor, north of Taylor Street. Being a frequently 
traveled regional corridor connector between Holland 
and Grand Haven, as well as the existing availability of 
utilities, more intense and higher density commercial 
development is appropriate in this area.

Appropriate Land Uses

A wide variety of commercial and industrial land uses 
may be appropriate here, but only if they are designed 
to respect the natural and rural surroundings. 

Some areas of the JH Campbell complex have been 
planned for Rural Enterprise as well. These areas may 
be developed with industrial uses that complement 
Port Sheldon’s maritime and agricultural heritage, 
and are designed to be incorporated into the natural 
landscape and to be unobtrusive to a rural lifestyle and 
character.

The Rural Enterprise Future Land Use category should 
be understood to allow either the C Commercial 
Zoning District or the I Industrial Zoning District, 
with the Planning Commission making the decision 
on whether either or both are appropriate in a 
given location based on the specific land use and 
infrastructure context. On the JH Campbell Plant 
Site, the I Industrial District is appropriate on areas 
designated as Rural Enterprise, though some 
land uses permitted in that district will need to be 
evaluated through the Special Land Use process.

The Fly Ash reclamation portion of the JH Campbell 
Site is also included in Rural Enterprise. The 
remediation of that area should be understood to 
be a permitted land use, and the eventual land uses 
that replace it should conform to the vision for Rural 
Enterprise expressed in this plan.

62 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

Streets and Transportation

Rural Enterprise land uses are typically surrounded 
by major arterial and principal arterial roads, which 
are characterized by higher volumes of traffic, 
heavier vehicles, and faster speeds. Streets should 
allow for regional connectivity as well as pedestrian 
connectivity and protected pedestrian crossings on 
both sides of the road. Roadside landscaping and 
other beautification elements should be considered in 
these areas due to the high volumes of both motorists 
and pedestrians traveling to these areas.

There are some land uses that fit within the Rural 
Enterprise category on the JH Campbell site, but may 
not be appropriate in other areas of the Township. 
Specifically, battery energy storage systems and solar 
energy generation are possible reuses on the JH 
Campbell site, and would be supported by this plan. 
Industrial uses that are “heavier” in terms of truck 
traffic, noise, dust, and other off-site impacts may 
also be appropriate on the JH Campbell site, where 
they are replacing the tall smoke stacks and heavy 
machinery of the coal-fire power plant, but would 
not be appropriate along US-31, or even the Hiawatha 
Drive portion of the Consumers land. 

The JH Campbell site also includes active freight 
rail infrastructure, which can support industrial 
businesses in ways that sites without rail cannot. The 
presence of the rail should be taken into account 
when the Planning Commission reviews Special Use 
Permits, PUDs, and other zoning applications for 
heavier industrial uses.

Non-Motorized Trails through Rural Enterprise areas 
may be appropriate, especially within the Utility 
Corridors leading to the JH Campbell Plant Site.

Building and Site Design

Buildings should be constructed of high-quality 
materials which wrap around the entire building and 
feature attractive signage. Robust landscaping should 
be installed throughout the site. Commercial buildings 
should be supported by sufficient but not overly 
excessive parking areas. Parking areas may be located 
in the front, side, or rear yards for buildings. Large 
areas of parking should be broken up with landscaped 
islands and trees.

Design Guidelines 

Building Setbacks: 
Recommended Front: 50 feet

Recommended Side: 50 feet

Recommended Rear: As needed to maintain rural 
character

Building Height:
Minimum: 1 story

Maximum: 2 stories. Multi-story buildings should be 
discouraged unless the business in question needs a 
taller building to operate successfully.

63



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

JH CAMPBELL PLANT SITE  
SUBAREA PLAN. 
As a companion to this Master Plan, a Subarea Plan 
was developed with a detailed vision for the future of 
the JH Campbell Site and the surrounding land owned 
by Consumers Energy. The Subarea Plan provides 
a significant amount of detail and context into the 
Consumers Energy site and adjacent properties. 
A portion of this Master Plan identifies strengths, 
weaknesses, opportunities, and threats relating to the 
remediation of the JH Campbell Plant site, and how 
the Township can utilize this closure of the Consumers 
Energy Plant as an opportunity to further goals in 
outdoor recreation, housing, commercial, industrial, 
and other elements.

The Future Land Use Plan and Zoning Plan are 
designed to be compatible with the Subarea Plan. 
The Future Land Use categories, including overlays, 
designated for the Consumers land  articulate the 
vision for both investment an preservation, as shown 
on the Subarea Plan.

The Zoning Plan translates the Future Land Use Plan 
to zoning, and should be followed closely, particularly 
within the Consumers land, to ensure the plan is 
followed.

However, it should be understood that the plan 
does not obligate Consumers to undertake any 
particular development or investment, and only 
prescribes the options available to Consumers as it 
repositions its assets.

The Subarea Plan was developed in consultation with 
Consumers, Lakeshore Advantage, neighborhood 
organizations, Ottawa County, and the general public.

Credit: Second Wave Media

BOUNDARY BETWEEN 
NEIGHBORHOOD MIXED USE AND 
RURAL ENTERPRISE
The boundary between Neighborhood Mixed Use 
and Rural Enterprise land uses, as expressed on the 
Future Land Use Plan in the Sub-Area Plan, should 
be understood to be fluid. The exact line between 
those development types may not be exactly where 
shown on the Future Land Use Map, if shifting it is 
necessary for the needs of a future redevelopment 
of the Campbell Plant Site. 

However, the general vision of the Future Land Use 
Map must be maintained. There must be preserved 
green space (preferably open to the public) between 
the railroad tracks and Pigeon Lake, with Mixed Use 
development north of the railroad tracks, and then 
Rural Enterprise uses north of the Mixed Use. Rural 
Enterprise should not extend all the way south to 
the railroad tracks, and no development should 
occur between the tracks and the water.

64 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

PUBLIC / SEMI-PUBLIC

Port Sheldon Township is a unique 
place in the West Michigan region. 
The natural wooded character of 
the Township, active farmland, 
and beautiful scenery makes it a 
great place for outdoor recreation. 
This category is intended to 
support continued operation and 
maintenance of the Township’s 
public spaces. 

General Characteristics

This designation identifies park land and open space. 
Areas within this designation can be used for both 
passive and active recreation. Natural features and 
developed parklands should be compatible with the 
surrounding landscape and neighborhood.

Appropriate Land Uses

All areas should maintain uses which promote the 
inclusion of the public and provide recreational and 
gathering opportunities.

Streets and Transportation

Existing pedestrian and cyclist trails should be 
maintained. Additional pathways and associated 
amenities (i.e. bicycle racks, water fountains, 
wayfinding signage, lighting, etc.) should be 
constructed as needed. The connection of such 
pathways to connect the parks is strongly encouraged. 

Building and Site Design

There are no specific Building and Site Design 
recommendations, although high quality architecture 
is encouraged. Buildings should be visible, but of 
scale and appearance that is consistent with their 
surroundings and should provide public amenities. 
Parks should be maintained and upgraded as needed. 

Sufficient parking should be provided for public 
facilities. Parking areas should be designed to 
minimize stormwater runoff and implement low-
impact development techniques (previous pavement, 
bioswales, etc.).

Design Guidelines

Building Setbacks:
Minimum / Maximum / Side / Rear:  
As necessary for park amenities

Building Height:
As necessary to accommodate use.

65



RECOMMENDED FOR DISTRIBUTION
APRIL 23, 2025

Priority Preservation Zone:

Within the hatched areas designated as “Priority 
Preservation Zones” on the Future Land Use Map, the 
Township has identified important natural features 
that are worthy of preservation. While the land in 
these zones is currently privately owned, and may be 
developed following the guidelines of the underlying 
Future Land Use category, it is the intent of the 
Township to support the purchase of this land by a 
public or non-profit entity that would maintain it in a 
natural state in perpetuity. Conservation easements 
may also be a tool to achieve these goals. 

The Priority Preservation Zone along Olive Shores 
Avenue at the west edge of the existing JH Campbell 
Plant Site should not be understood to abridge 
development on the Campbell Plant Site itself. Instead, 
the Township strongly encourages any redevelopment 
of the Campbell Plant Site to preserve the existing 
wooded area along Olive Shores Avenue, in order to 
buffer the residential uses from any new industrial 
ones. The Township may enforce this goal through its 
zoning regulations at the time of redevelopment.

Reclamation Overlay: 

The Fly Ash Ponds within the JH Campbell complex 
will be remediated over a period of several decades. 
The Fly Ash material will be used to support 
construction and other uses, and will be gradually 
reduced until the site is suitable for redevelopment. 
The Future Land Use Map tentatively envisions a Rural 
Enterprise use in that area.

At the time of the adoption of this plan, it was the 
intent of Consumers and Ash Corps (the company 
responsible for remediating the fly ash) to transport 
all the fly ash off-site by rail. This is consistent with 
the Township’s goal, and addresses concerns of near 
residents expressed during community engagement.

However, over the multi-decade process of removing 
the fly ash, it is possible trucks may be used. If so, they 
should use the following best practices.

•	 A clearly defined haul route. 

•	 Limited early morning, evening, and weekend 
hours.

•	 Moisture conditioning the fly ash.

•	 Using covered dump trucks or pneumatic tankers, 
not open trucks. 

•	 Compacting the top surface of the fly ash.

Additionally, the method of crossing Lakeshore 
Avenue with the fly ash and loading it onto trains 
should be respectful of through traffic on Lakeshore, 
and should respect the above best practices.

Overlays
The Future Land Use Map includes two hatched “overlays.” These 
designations are intended to delineate important land use goals that 
span across Future Land Use Categories, and indicate implementation 
actions the go beyond land use policy and zoning.

66 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

NEIGHBORHOOD DESIGN 
GUIDELINES
As Port Sheldon Township continues to grow it is 
important to consider the character, design, and 
function of neighborhoods. As such, some of the key 
factors that are generally considered as best practices 
for neighborhood design include:

Street Design

Street Connectivity
A theme throughout this Plan - connecting 
neighborhood streets to one another, and to Township 
thoroughfares - is imperative to ensuring an overall 
connected Township wide transportation system. 
Some primary purposes of a connected street 
system are to facilitate flow, alleviate congestion, and 
reduce the number of trips. Some other benefits to 
neighborhood street connectivity also include long-
term cost savings for road maintenance and municipal 
infrastructure.

Additionally, neighborhood streets should be 
designed in a way to minimize cut-through traffic, but 
allow for access to community gathering places, such 
as playgrounds, parks, and more.

Neighborhood street designs should offer more 
than one entry and exit route and connections to 
adjacent neighborhoods but can also include cul-
de-sacs and dead-ends as needed and applicable. 
Refer to the image example of recommended street 
design applicable to Port Sheldon Township. Notice 
the image example includes multiple connections to 
arterial roads simultaneously placed with cul-de-sacs, 
and connections to other neighborhood streets.

Also noted in this example, is that although there are 
multiple street connections to arterial roads and to 
adjacent neighborhoods, a motorist would not use 
these neighborhood streets for cut-through access. 
This type of design promotes enhanced safety and 
privacy for residents.

Slow Traffic Speed
Another best practice for neighborhood design 
includes slow traffic speeds. Slow traffic speed 
increases the safety of motorists as well as 
pedestrians and cyclists and increases the longevity 
of road surfaces. Additionally, as the reference 
image demonstrates, slight curves and turns in 
neighborhood streets naturally promote slower traffic 
speeds.

67



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

Bike Path and Sidewalk Connectivity
Connectivity does not only refer to streets and cars, 
but also to pathways, bikes, and people. As a means to 
connect neighborhoods and homes to one another, 
bike paths or sidewalks should be considered in open 
space areas and/or utility corridors located between 
(and within) developments to provide access from 
one development to another by means other than a 
roadway. These neighborhood connections reduce 
the dependency on cars, increase environmentally-
friendly transportation alternatives, and improve 
quality of life for residents. Neighborhood bike paths 
and sidewalks should also be connected to nearby 
community nodes, such parks, schools, or corner 
convenience stores (as applicable).

Permeability
As noted above, the connection of neighborhoods 
to one another (both motorized and nonmotorized), 
as well as to nearby community nodes is a best 
practice in neighborhood design. Along with that idea, 
neighborhoods should be considered permeable. 
Permeability simply means the ability for people to 
pass across and through neighborhoods without the 
use of arterial roads.

Nearby Amenities
When feasible, neighborhoods should be located 
within proximity to public amenities such as parks 
and/or open space or natural space, which should 
be accessible from bike paths and/or sidewalks 
connected to the adjacent residential development(s). 
As a best practice in neighborhood design, parks 
and/or open spaces should be encouraged within 
developments, such as playgrounds, sports fields/
courts, or pathways through wooded or natural 
spaces.

Character

Durable materials
Also mentioned throughout this Plan, durable 
materials should always be encouraged in all 
developments. For neighborhoods, utilizing and 
requiring durable construction materials for homes 
increases the lifespan of the neighborhood, keeps 
routine maintenance low, and prevents developments 
from becoming unsafe or inhabitable for a longer 
period of time. In this context, durable materials can 
include brick, stone, siding, and others.

Design
As a general best practice, some of the recommended 
design and overall character elements of a 
neighborhood include:

•	 Scale – encourage human scale development to 
blend-in with the surrounding character of the 
Township, especially in rural areas.

•	 Inclusivity – neighborhoods should be welcoming 
and accessible to all. Some of the ways to achieve 
this include the construction of front porches and 
entries, consistency of structures, front yards and 
landscaping elements, and more.

•	 Compatibility – homes should be consistent with 
one another and the surrounding character of the 
neighborhood and general area.

68 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

CONSIDERATIONS FOR HOUSING 
A number of factors are important when considering 
the Township’s potential for future population and 
housing growth.

Transportation System

The demographic analysis revealed that most of Port 
Sheldon Township's labor force works outside of the 
community. Most major commercial services, such as 
grocery stores, home furnishing and clothing stores, 
and other similar frequently visited retail stores are 
located outside of the Township. 

Additionally, virtually no transit exists in the area, 
but will likely be reviewed in the upcoming years 
to determine feasibility. As a result, Port Sheldon 
Township is a highly automobile-oriented community. 
As such, development of the residential sector should 
be closely tied to the capacity and development of the 
road system. Under ideal circumstances, residential 
areas should be in proximity to major roads with easy 
connections to freeways or State highways to serve 
commuters. In this context, targeting residential 
development along the periphery of US-31 and within 
proximity to regional corridors would likely be an 
appropriate approach to supporting new housing in 
the Township. This also considers the appropriateness 
of housing development on the south side of the 
Township, near the Park Township border. This is due 
to the planned water extensions for that area.

Public Utilities 

Discussed further in this Chapter, public utilities are a 
key driver in development of all types. It is important 
to note that Port Sheldon Township does not have 
current plans for the extension of public water/sewer, 
aside from those planned by the City of Wyoming 
(south side of the Township), and those planned to 
support housing and businesses surrounding US-
31. While this Plan does envision cluster housing 
opportunities and neighborhood residential 
opportunities, much of that development (including 
the Township’s current zoning policies) is dependent 
on public utility hookup. Therefore, it is recommended 
that the Future Land Use Plan is frequently reviewed 
and updated to reflect any changes in plans regarding 
utilities. Further, this Plan is intended to proactively 
plan for future potential development - projecting up 
to 30 years in the future. As such, it is likely that new 
residential housing will be developed in a phased 
approach, over time, considering the availability and 
feasibility of public utilities. 

69



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

Capacity of Soils to Support Septic Systems

The appropriate density of development is generally 
closely related to sewage disposal and water quality 
concerns. Public sanitary sewers do not serve minimal 
parcels within the Township (currently just on the 
east side of US-31), and conventional individual on-site 
septic systems require a larger parcel of land for an 
adequate disposal field, compared to a subdivision lot 
served by sewers. The type of soil and subsoil affects 
the amount of area needed and the possibility of 
polluting nearby surface water or wells. 

Private engineered septic systems (such as mound 
systems), however, located on a parcel and designed 
to serve one residence are gaining acceptance at the 
State and County level. These engineered individual 
on-site septic systems permit development on parcels 
which previously would not have been buildable 
due to unsuitable soil conditions. Engineered 
septic systems are still relatively new, so their long-
term reliability is unclear. Nonetheless, the use of 
engineered septic systems means that soil suitability 
should be less of a factor in determining the potential 
future density of development in the Township.

Community septic or sewage disposal systems 
(privately owned public sewerage systems) are 
another option to serve potential residential 
development. These systems are privately owned and 
designed to serve the residents of a subdivision or 
other limited grouping of parcels, outside of the reach 
of municipal systems. These systems may also permit 
the development of previously undevelopable land, as 
the treatment facility can be in the most appropriate 
location on the parcel or grouping of parcels. 

Water Quality

Another consideration related to soils and water 
quality is the presence of groundwater recharge areas 
and wetlands. Development that increases stormwater 
runoff – decreasing the recharge rate of underground 
aquifers – or that increases the risk of groundwater 
contamination can damage existing residents’ wells. 

Efficiency of Development Patterns 

The efficiency of development patterns has two 
primary facets:

1.	 Public services can be delivered much more 
efficiently and cost effectively where development 
is compact. Large lot development on conventional 
lots is the most costly type of development to 
provide with public services, such as public sewer 
and water service, roads, and fire coverage, as more 
infrastructure must be provided for each housing 
unit. That is not to say that large lot residential 
homes are discouraged in the Township, but 
new housing opportunities for higher density 
neighborhood development should be targeted 
to more appropriate areas of the Township. 
Large lot residential development is the most 
frequently demonstrated land use in the Township 
and does contribute to the Township’s rural 
character. However, in approving future large lot 
housing development (and lot splits) the possible 
degradation of productive agricultural lands should 
be considered.

2.	  Large lot development takes land out of the 
open space and agricultural base at a faster rate 
than any other type of development. On a typical 
large single-family lot only a portion of the lot is 
actually put to use. From one perspective, this is 
an inefficient way to house a given population. 
Individual homeowners may choose to preserve 
most of their own land in its natural condition, but 
contiguous areas of open space large enough to 
maintain agriculture or high-quality habitat are 
difficult to preserve.

In recognition of the above concerns, the Township 
should continue to encourage larger housing 
developments to use cluster housing or residential 
planned unit developments (RPUD) in order to reduce 
development impacts (see: Cluster Residential in 
the Future Land Use Plan and Subarea Plan). These 
strategies allow a developer to preserve a portion 
of the site as open space and arrange homes more 
compactly on the remaining land, rather than 
requiring strict minimums on individual lots. Flexibility 
in requirements such as minimum lot size, minimum 
unit size, setbacks, and other factors are important 
considerations to support cluster residential housing, 
where appropriate.

70 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

Natural Features

Just as natural features such as wetlands can limit 
the development potential of a site, inconsistent 
development sprawl can also have negative 
consequences on these features. 

•	 Development that replaces fields, forests, and 
other open space with less permeable surface, like 
buildings, driveways, and manicured lawns, can 
increase runoff after heavy rainfall or snow melt, 
contributing to flooding of streams and lakes and 
degradation of surface water quality.

•	 Development that fragments farmland can limit 
the productivity of the remaining fields, relative to 
large areas of contiguous farmland. By increasing 
the need to transport equipment between fields 
while also adding to the congestion on adjacent 
roadways, fragmenting farmland can remove fields 
from productive use even without developing 
them.

•	 Development that fragments wooded areas and 
other open spaces can degrade the remaining 
habitat, reducing the Township’s ability to host 
diverse wildlife and also increasing the chance of 
wildlife conflicts with people – such as automobile 
crashes involving deer.

Aside from the state and federal regulatory protection 
afforded certain natural features, some communities 
make special efforts to prevent unusual or valuable 
natural features from being developed, recognizing 
that they serve both an aesthetic and functional 
purpose. 

For example, floodplains, wetlands, and woodlands are 
often reserved for recreational amenities and common 
open space rather than for residential development. 
Efforts to preserve and emphasize existing natural 
features, when made a goal of the Master Plan and 
subsequent ordinances, can help maintain the 
character of the Township.

Access is another important consideration with 
respect to natural features. Conventional single family 
development segments resources, such as lakefront 
and open space, into individual lots, both minimizing 
access to the broader public and limiting the utility 
to the individual owner. Other types of development, 
such as open space or cluster development, can 
facilitate protection of and access to natural resources. 
These forms of development can also provide areas 
of open space sufficient to support larger-scale 
recreation than a private lawn, such as playgrounds, 
playing fields, or nature trails.

Regional Development Pressures

There are regional development pressures that 
will affect development in Port Sheldon Township. 
Economic growth has drawn new households into 
the West Michigan and Lake Michigan coastal region 
and fostered new housing construction. Throughout 
the duration of this Plan, the Township should keep 
abreast of regional housing development trends 
to ensure that new housing is being appropriately 
supported in areas best suited for it. 

71



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

Supporting Coastal Resiliency
Some of Port Sheldon Township’s greatest environmental 
and physical assets, such as the shoreline of Lake Michigan, 
Pigeon Lake, and Pigeon River. In general, the development 
characteristics surrounding these important bodies of water and 
associated habitats include single-family residential land uses, 
often on large lots, and low intensity public uses such as parks, 
beaches, or boat launches. Protecting these important local and 
regional assets are a key component of this Master Plan.

This Plan envisions the preservation and 
protection of the Lake Michigan shoreline, 
Pigeon Lake, Pigeon River, Township wetlands, 
and important natural features. Some strategies 
that can be implemented to support the 
preservation of these important natural 
resources include:

Continue working relationships with EGLE 
to implement best practices with regard to 
development along the lakeshore, inland lakes, 
and within close proximity to wetlands

•	 Consider zoning regulations that pertain to 
environmental protection, such as natural 
landscaping, native plantings, overlay 
districts, increased setbacks, and other similar 
regulations.

•	 Consider waterfront setbacks to be measured 
from the Regulatory Ordinary High Water Mark 
(ROHWM), set by EGLE.

•	 Keep updated on publications pertaining to 
shoreline preservation and environmental 
sustainability for the Great Lakes region.

•	 Continue to promote cluster development near 
sensitive areas.

•	 Limit the percentage of impervious surfaces 
in developments. Or heighten provisions on 
maximum lot coverage for impervious surfaces. 
The amount of buildable area should not 
include area that which is underwater, beach, or 
bluff.

•	 Continue working with home owners 
associations along the Lakeshore (on both Lake 
Michigan and Pigeon Lake) to ensure that all 
standards, rules, and regulations for lakefront 
homes work in tandem on efforts for shoreline 
protection and resiliency.

•	 Identify high priority public lands for EGLE 
protection and/or restoration grants, as 
applicable.

•	 Promote residential layouts that are conducive 
to shoreline preservation, such as long lot 
formats.

•	 Consider “scenario-based planning” principles 
to mitigate impacts on coastal development. 
Scenarios are used to determine possible risks 
and benefits to coastal communities, based on 
various climate scenarios.

•	 Seek opportunities for land acquisition on 
the waterfront. This could be waterfront 
easements or properties. This can help minimize 
development activities along Lake Michigan 
and Pigeon Lake. This may also include 
opportunities to eventually connect to Ottawa 
County parks and trails through Township-
owned land.

72 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025



RECOMMENDED FOR DISTRIBUTION
APRIL 23, 2025

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN 
FUTURE LAND USE AND ZONING 
CATEGORIES
The table below shows the Port Sheldon Township 
Zoning Districts that would appropriately implement 
the vision of the Future Land Use Categories. Rezoning 
requests should be reviewed against this table to 
determine whether the requested district is supported 
by this Plan. In some cases, a new zoning district may 
be the most effective way to implement the vision of 
the Future Land Use Plan. 

FUTURE LAND USE CATEGORIES ZONING 
DISTRICTS

Agricultural Preservation AG -1, Agricultural

Rural Residential AG -1, Agricultural 

Neighborhood Residential

R-1, Single-Family 

Residential 

PUD, Planned unit 

Development

Lakeshore Residential
LSR, Lakeshore 

Residential District

Neighborhood Mixed Use New District

Rural Enterprise
C, Commercial 

I, Industrial

Public/Semi Public OS, Open Space

GENERAL ZONING 
RECOMMENDATIONS
The recommendations described in this Section apply 
to the Township’s Zoning Ordinance and associated 
documents as they relate to the Township’s zoning 
activities and processes.

•	 Update the Township’s Zoning Map, to ensure 
that all zoning boundaries are clear and easily 
understood. This includes assigning a color to each 
district on the map.

•	 Reorganize the Zoning Ordinance district chapters 
with AG-1 appearing at the top, ranging from 
minimal nuisance uses and lowest density to 
highest nuisance potential uses and highest 
density. This can assist with user-friendliness. 

AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT 
RECOMMENDATIONS
The recommendations in this Section pertain to the 
Township’s Agricultural District. 

•	 Perform a lot size analysis and consider increasing 
the required minimum lot size in the AG-1 District. 
The intent here is to ensure that the Township’s 
valuable farmland and rural character is not 
degraded over time by excessive lot splits, due to 
rural residential land uses. 

•	 Consider shifting short-term rentals to special land 
uses in the AG-1 District, rather than permitted by 
right. 

•	 Design zoning requirements for agri-tourism uses 
and other similar accessory agriculture uses (e.g., 
cider mills, u-pick operations, raising of fur bearing 
animals, horseback riding lessons, etc.). This can 
provide agricultural producers with the opportunity 
for supplemental income.

•	 Consider implementing a “sliding scale” for 
residential development in the AG-1 District. This 
can permit single-family residential land uses on 
smaller lot sizes, while requiring the preservation of 
remaining open space or agricultural land.

Zoning Plan

74 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

•	 Private roads should be highly discouraged and 
should be prohibited in the Agricultural Preservation 
Future Land Use category. While private roads may 
be appropriate in some instances, in general they 
promote disconnected transportation networks, 
and cause long-term maintenance problems 
due to inadequate funding for homeowners or 
condominium associations. Ultimately, in the interest 
of a well-maintained and highly functional road 
system in the Township, it is the intent of this plan 
for nearly all roads in the Township to be dedicated 
to the Ottawa County Road Commission, which has 
dedicated funding for their long-term maintenance.

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
•	 To implement the vision in this Plan for cluster 

residential development, consider developing a 
new Cluster Residential District. While this may be 
achieved through the Planned Unit Development 
process, creating a new district can help ease the 
development process to further reach the Township’s 
housing goals. 

•	 Allow for smaller lot sizes in the new Cluster 
Residential District. Lot sizes may be around a quarter 
of an acre in size, while the remainder of the area is 
intended for undeveloped preserved open space. 

•	 Consider developing additional setback standards for 
properties with frontage on Lake Michigan. 

INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
•	 Considering the closure of the Consumers Energy 

Power Plant, examine the permitted and special uses 
of the Industrial District to ensure an appropriate 
variety of permitted uses that may eventually replace 
the Plant upon decommissioning. Appropriate land 
uses for this category are described further in the 
Subarea Plan.

•	 Develop an Ordinance to permit and regulate Battery 
Energy Storage Systems in the I Industrial District.

PROMOTING MIXED USE
In order to promote mixed use development in the 
Mixed Use and Neighborhood Commercial Areas, 
the following changes to the Zoning Ordinance are 
recommended.

•	 Create a new Neighborhood Mixed Use Zoning 
District to implement the vision of the Mixed Use 
Future Land Use Category. Allow for “horizontal” 
mixed use development. This can include a variety of 

appropriate uses, such as residential (of 
varied density), professional offices,  
personal services, and other small-scale commercial 
development to co-exist within the area. In some 
cases, vertical mixed use development may be 
appropriate, such as near the US-31 Corridor, where 
higher density is more appropriate. Vertical mixed 
uses may include commercial or office space on the 
ground floor with residential or office on the top floor. 

•	 Prior to the creation of the new Mixed Use Zoning 
District, rezoning proposals within the Mixed Use 
Future Land Use Category should be evaluated 
against the following criteria:

	»  Whether or not the proposal advances the 
implementation of the Consumers Energy Site 
Subarea Plan (unless the site does not fall within 
the boundaries of the plan). Rezoning requests 
that further the implementation of those plans 
should be approved.

	»  Ensure that the request is weighted against the 
availability of public utilities, such as water and 
sewer. 

PROMOTING CONNECTIVITY 
In order to create a connected and safe community, 
the following changes to the Zoning Ordinance are 
recommended:

•	 Enhance standards for new roads in the Township, 
and make sure the standards apply to both public 
and private roads. Examples of enhanced standards 
could include the following but should be somewhat 
flexible based on the context of the road.

	»  Required sidewalks.

	»  Required curb and cutter.

	»  Required street trees.

	»  Required lighting.

•	 Require stub streets at the edges of development, 
to connect to new development. Do not make this 
requirement dependent on the approval of the 
neighboring property.

•	 Restrict cul-de-sacs to only situations where stub 
street requirements are met elsewhere in the 
development.

•	 Set an intersection density standard for new 
neighborhoods and developments. Intersection 
density is a measure of the number of routes that 
a pedestrian, cyclist, or motorist can take through 
an area. A greater number of intersections (and 
therefore options for routing) makes walking and 
biking safer and easier, and makes driving more 
efficient, thus reducing traffic. 

75



RECOMMENDED FOR DISTRIBUTION
APRIL 23, 2025

ROAD NETWORK
In general, Port Sheldon Township generally has a 
fluid road network on the major Township roads. 
Throughout the duration of this Plan, the Township 
should continue to explore opportunities to work 
alongside the OCRC, MACC, and MDOT to assess areas 
for traffic calming and identify various intersections 
that can be improved in terms of heightened safety 
measures, such as adding stop lights or constructing 
roundabouts. 

SCENIC CORRIDORS
Port Sheldon Townships rural character means that 
most of its roadways are not only major collectors, but 
scenic corridors from which vistas of the Townships 
blueberry fields, pine forests, and lakes can be seen. 
They include Lakeshore Drive, Butternut Drive, Sand 
Drive, Van Buren Street, a portion of Port Sheldon 
Street from 160th Avenue to Butternut Drive, and the 
entirety of Croswell Street. These scenic corridors serve 
residents and visitors at all times of year for practical 
purposes, and equally if not more importantly, for 
recreational purposes. Care should be taken to 
preserve the scenic nature of these corridors, including 
preservation of the tree canopy to provide shade for 
walkers and bikers as well as maintain views, and the 
prevention of clearing for those lots fronting scenic 
corridors. Setbacks should be appropriate so as to 
maintain a rural atmosphere.

Future Transportation Plan
The Future Land Use Map is a geographic representation of 
the Township’s vision for future development, investment, and 
preservation. It should be used to guide decision-making by Township 
officials, especially regarding zoning approvals. The map was developed 
using input from the public and stakeholders, as well as information 
regarding market conditions, population projections, sustainability 
objectives, and infrastructure capacity.

76 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

WALKING AND BIKING 
Although the Township has a very well-connected 
bike path system, many areas within the Township 
completely lack traditional pedestrian and biking 
infrastructure such as sidewalks, bike paths, and 
protected crossings. This discourages pedestrian 
behavior and makes walking and crossing difficult 
along routes with higher speed limits. To remedy this, 
the Township should:

•	 Encourage the inclusion of paths on site plans 
during the development or redevelopment of 
residential and commercial zones.

•	 Target specific areas for path improvement zones 
such as near popular community nodes such as 
schools, Township facilities, and parks.

•	 Continue to strengthen the relationships with 
the Ottawa County Road Commission to improve 
major corridors by constructing widened shoulders 
in conjunction with road improvement projects 
identified in the Road Commission’s Strategic 
Improvements Schedule to provide non-motorized 
access to major destinations.

•	 Expand the non-motorized path system to reach 
more residents and better connect destinations 
throughout the township.

As mentioned, the township should consider 
expansion of the non-motorized path network. 
Bike paths are typically eight feet wide (or wider), 
compared to five feet for a sidewalk, and are designed 
to carry cyclists traveling several miles, rather than 
pedestrians walking only a few blocks. However, they 
are also an asset for pedestrians. Because bike paths 
envision longer distance travel and more cyclists 
than walkers, they are more practical along rural 
thoroughfares than sidewalks. 

In order to increase access to the Townships already 
popular recreational opportunities and better connect 
residential zones and park destinations, expansion of 
the non-motorized network should be considered in 
the following locations: 

•	 Extension of the Croswell path west to Olive 
Shore Avenue, to connect with Olive Shores and 
Windsnest Parks.

•	 Extension of Croswell Street path east across US-
31 to West Olive, to connect West Olive to the 
network.

•	 146th Avenue between Croswell and Stanton to 
provide recreational access to the residents of West 
Olive Estates.

•	 Entirety of Van Buren Street

•	 Entirety of 152nd Avenue

•	 Entirety of Port Sheldon

•	 Entirety of Stanton Street

PUBLIC TRANSIT
Public transit options become an increasingly 
appealing mode of transportation as residents age. 
As Port Sheldon Township faces a growing aging 
population, it is essential that the future of public 
transportation in the area be considered to maintain 
access to services and increase quality of life for aging 
residents. To accomplish this, the Township should:

•	 Consider the establishment of a local 
transportation authority such as that present in 
Grand Haven, Harbor Transit, which provides dial-a-
ride transportation services to its residents. 

•	 Consider a partnership with an established local 
transportation agency to accomplish the same. 

77



RECOMMENDED FOR DISTRIBUTION
APRIL 23, 2025

FUNDING

RESPONSIBILITY (ABBREVIATION)

Most Important

Very Important

Important

Priority

KEY

Timeframe

Responsibility

W/in 3 years 

5 years

10+ years

Project Lead

Key Participant

Contributor

A

B

C

OC Ottawa County

OCRC Ottawa County Road Commission

OCPU Ottawa County Public Utilities

BO Business Owners

MDOT Michigan Department of Transportation

SM State of Michigan

HO Home Owners

CM Community Members

TB Township Board

MAX Macatawa Area Express Transit Authority

TS Township Staff

MACC Macatawa Area Coordinating Council

PC Planning Commission

DEV Developers

NC Neighboring Communities

CON Consumers Energy

Public Includes public funds from the Township operating budget, County, and State funding.  
May also include local government bonds and grants.

Private Includes funds from private sources such as grant monies, corporate funding, or property 
owners

1

2

3

Implementation Plan
This section identifies and describes actions and tools available to 
implement the vision of this Plan.

78 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

PROJECT P
ri

or
it

y

Ti
m

ef
ra

m
e

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING

To
w

n
sh

ip

O
th

er
 G

ov
t

P
ri

va
te

P
u

b
lic

P
ri

va
te

Ti
F 

/ D
D

A

Explore opportunities, such as conducting 
Corridor Plans, walkability audits, and safety 
audits for traffic congestion relief, future road 
design, and safety improvements on routes 
listed in this Plan.

A 1
TB 
PC 
TS

X

Work with the OCRC to develop road 
connections for new residential developments 
and require development plans to include 
“stub streets” to allow for future connectivity 
to other residential or Township road corridors. 
Discourage cul-de-sacs.

B 2 TS X

Work with MAX to assess future bus 
routes and stops near community nodes, 
employment centers, and residential areas. 
Especially considering the decommissioning 
of the Consumers Energy Plant, where new 
industry may eventually replace the existing 
land use and create a need for elevated 
transportation opportunities.

C 3 TS X

Develop community gateways into the 
Township to create a sense of unique identity 
with decorative design and landscape 
elements and assess areas where wayfinding 
signage may be appropriate.

C 3 TS X

Assess corridors for potential truck routes, 
where applicable.

C 3 TS X

TRANSPORTATION ACTION PLAN

79



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

PROJECT P
ri

or
it

y

Ti
m

ef
ra

m
e

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING

To
w

n
sh

ip

O
th

er
 G

ov
t

P
ri

va
te

P
u

b
lic

P
ri

va
te

Ti
F 

/ D
D

A

Require sidewalks and/or bike paths in 
new and/or redeveloped commercial and 
industrial developments.

A 1
TB 
PC 
TS

X

Require sidewalks in new residential 
neighborhoods.

A 1
TB 
PC 
TS

DEV 
HO X

Work with the OCRC and MACC to plan 
and develop a series of paved shoulders 
and bike paths envisioned by this Plan; by 
means such as identifying priority routes, 
creating a funding plan, and conjoining road 
improvement schedule projects.

B 2 TS
OCRC 
MACC 
MDOT

CM X X

Target utility corridors for future non-
motorized trails.

C 3
TB
TS
PC

DNR 
MDOT 

NC 
OC

CON X X

Continue to expand the pedestrian 
infrastructure throughout the Town-ship 
by implementing sidewalks on both sides 
of major corridors for enhanced pedestrian 
safety and include protected crossings where 
appropriate. First identify priority routes (such 
as those located by schools or shopping 
centers), and then identify funding sources 
(e.g. Safe Routes to School) and timeline.

B 2
TS
PC
TB

X

Continue relationships with Ottawa 
County, neighboring communities, and 
other applicable organizations to assess 
key regional non-motorized connections. 
Determine feasible routes and phases.

C PC
TS

NC 
OC X

NONMOTORIZED ACTION PLAN

80 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

PROJECT P
ri

or
it

y

Ti
m

ef
ra

m
e

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING

To
w

n
sh

ip

O
th

er
 G

ov
t

P
ri

va
te

P
u

b
lic

P
ri

va
te

Ti
F 

/ D
D

A

Implement beautification measures as 
described in this Plan, such as landscaped 
corridors, street trees, wayfinding signage, etc.

B 2
TB
PC
TS

X

Develop community gateways into the 
Township to create a sense of unique identity 
with decorative design and landscape 
elements and assess areas where wayfinding 
signage may be appropriate.

A 1
TB
PC
TS

X

Continue to foster relationships with 
neighboring communities, such as the City of 
Holland, to market the “greater Holland area” 
for year-round tourism.

C 3
TB
TS
PC

NC
OC X X

PLACEMAKING ACTION PLAN

81



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

PROJECT P
ri

or
it

y

Ti
m

ef
ra

m
e

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING

To
w

n
sh

ip

O
th

er
 G

ov
t

P
ri

va
te

P
u

b
lic

P
ri

va
te

Ti
F 

/ D
D

A

Consider the implementation of various agricultural 
preservation techniques such as “sliding scales” 
for residential development in the AG-1 District, 
implementation of zoning requirements and 
streamlined approval processes for agritourism 
activities, support for local agricultural producers 
with connections to County and State operated 
preservation programs, support for succession 
efforts, and other mechanisms. 

B 2
TB 
PC 
TS

NC
OC X

Prohibit planned unit developments in those areas 
classified as Agricultural Preservation in the Future 
Land Use Plan.

A 1
TB 
PC 
TS

X

Limit public water/sewer extensions into those areas 
classified as Agricultural Preservation in the Future 
Land Use Plan.

A 1
TB 
PC 
TS

X

Foster relationships with local producers and identify 
other methods in which the Township can assist with 
supporting local farming, such as farmers market 
events, support and engagement in community 
gardens, establish and maintain partnerships with 
MSU-E and 4-H programs, and more.

C 3 TS
PC NC CM X X

Consider opportunities for open space/natural space 
in all newly proposed developments, as applicable.

A 1
TB
PC
TS

CON
DEV

Continue to keep abreast of emerging techniques 
that support coastal resiliency. This can also include 
inland lakes, such as Pigeon Lake. 

C 3 TB
TS CON

Develop strategies for public or non-profit land 
acquisition to preserve open space areas, as 
applicable. 

A 1 TB
TS

OC
SM

CON 
CM 
DEV

Establish a Township land preservation fund, in 
which community members or developers can 
donate for density bonuses for preserved open space 
or vacant land.

C 2 TB
TS

AGRICULTURAL / NATURAL PRESERVATION ACTION PLAN

82 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

PROJECT P
ri

or
it

y

Ti
m

ef
ra

m
e

RESPONSIBILITY FUNDING

To
w

n
sh

ip

O
th

er
 G

ov
t

P
ri

va
te

P
u

b
lic

P
ri

va
te

Ti
F 

/ D
D

A

Continue partnerships with local economic 
development agencies, such as Lakeshore Advantage 
and the Michigan Economic Development 
Corporation (MEDC), to foster and support business 
maintenance and growth in the Township.

A 1  TS
MACC

OC
SM

CON
DEV X

Identify redevelopment priority sites in the Township. A 1
TB 
PC 
TS

DEV X X

Identify State and local funding opportunities to 
redevelop priority sites, such as the Ottawa County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Program, Smart Zone 
Development, MEDC programs, and more.

A 1
TB 
PC 
TS

MEDC
OC

CON 
DEV X

Continue to foster relationships with local business 
owners, large employer business owners, and 
educational institutions to assist with growth and 
development where needed.

C 3 TS
PC NC

CON 
CM X X

Support the development of associated workforce 
housing with any new industry that occupies the 
Consumers Energy JH Campbell Plant area. 

C 3
TB
PC
TS

CON
DEV X

Develop a mixed-use Zoning District that allows 
for flexible land uses to pro-mote higher density in 
areas defined in the Future Land Use Plan. This can 
support new housing and economic development 
opportunities. 

A 1
TB
PC
TS

X

Assess the Township’s Industrial District zoning 
requirements to determine the various land uses that 
may be appropriate for the Consumers Energy JH 
Campbell Plant properties.

A 1
TB
PC
TS

CON X

Design a new Cluster Residential Zoning District. 
Consider implications for this District, including 
availability of utilities, minimal setbacks, reduced lot 
sizes, and other building and site design elements. 

A 1
TB
PC
TS

X

Continue working relationships with the Ottawa 
County Public Utilities Department to assess 
feasibility of innovative techniques for water and 
wastewater treatment to areas not serviced by public 
utilities. 

C 3
TB
PC
TS

OCPU X

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING ACTION PLAN
83



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

84 |   Port Sheldon Township Master Plan



RECOMMENDED BY PLANNING COMMISSION
SEPTEMBER 25, 2025

124 E. Fulton Street · Suite 6B 
Grand Rapids, MI 49503
(616) 226-6375
mcka.com

John Jackson, AICP................................................................................ President
Christopher Khorey, AICP............................................................. Project Director
Danielle Bouchard, AICP......................................................Project Management
Aayush Patel.................................................................................. Project Planner
Adam Cook, NCI........................................................................... Project Planner
Paul Lippens, AICP, NCI................................................................ Project Planner
Callie Garrett............................................................................ Document Design

Staff Acknowledgments

85



16201 PORT SHELDON 
STREETWEST OLIVE, MI 49460 

PORTSHELDONTWP.ORG


	09.10.25 Minutes-Draft
	Minutes of a Regular Meeting of the
	Port Sheldon Township Board
	September 10, 2025 – 5:30 P.M.


	Monthly Building Dept totals 2025
	Sheet1

	Monthly Building Report
	Port Sheldon Township Agreement - 2025.pdf
	Port Sheldon 2025 Master Plan_092925_SC.pdf
	Introduction
	State Authorization 
for Planning
	What is included in this Plan?
	How is this Plan used by the Township? 
	Regional Location 

	History 
	Existing Conditions: 
Population
	Demographic Profile 
	Housing Profile
	Population Projection

	Existing Conditions: 
Economy
	Economic Profile
	Tapestry Segmentation Profile

	Natural Environment
	Wetlands and Floodplains
	Watersheds and Drainage
	Groundwater 
and Surface Water
	Soils and Farmland 

	Existing Land Use
	Agricultural
	Residential
	Lakefront Residential
	Commercial
	Industrial
	Public/Semi-Public
	Vacant

	Transportation
	Existing Transportation Analysis
	FUNCTIONAL CLASSIFICATION 
OF ROADWAYS

	Future Land Use Plan
	OVERVIEW

	Future Land Use Plan
	Agricultural Preservation
	Rural-residential
	Neighborhood Residential
	Lakefront Residential
	Neighborhood Mixed Use
	Rural Enterprise
	Public / Semi-Public

	Overlays
	Neighborhood Design Guidelines

	Zoning Plan
	Relationship Between Future Land Use and Zoning Categories
	Agricultural District Recommendations
	Residential District Recommendations 
	Industrial District Recommendations 
	Promoting Mixed Use
	Promoting Connectivity 

	Future Transportation Plan
	Walking and Biking 
	Public Transit

	Implementation Plan
	Transportation Action Plan
	Nonmotorized Action Plan
	Placemaking Action Plan
	Agricultural / natural preservation action plan
	ECONOMIc development and housing action plan


	Letter to PC - Master Plan Request 08142025.pdf
	Resolution 2025-19 adoption of master plan signed.pdf
	Pledge_50481_from_Lakeshore_Advantage.pdf
	Port Sheldon 2025 Master Plan_092925_SC (003) FLU.pdf



